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About MøllerGruppen

MøllerGruppen is a family owned group involved in the import, sale, 
servicingandfinancingofVolkswagen,AudiandŠKODAcars.The
companyisrepresentedinNorway,SwedenandtheBalticStates.

CAR IMPORTS
Harald A. Møller AS is Norway’s largest 
car importer. The company is responsi-
ble for importing, distributing and ser-
vicing Volkswagen, Audi and ŠKODA 
cars in Norway. More than one in every 
four new cars sold in Norway has been 
imported by Harald A. Møller AS. Møller 
Baltic Import SE imports Volkswagen 
into Estonia, Latvia and Lithuania, and 
Audi into Latvia and Lithuania.

CAR DEALERS  
MøllerGruppen has a total of 67 car deal-
ers in Norway, Sweden, Estonia, Latvia 
and Lithuania. Møller Bil Norge is Nor-
way’s largest car dealer chain and has 41 
dealers and nine specialised repair work-
shops throughout the country.  Møller 
Bil Sverige is Sweden’s second largest 
Volkswagen, Audi, Škoda and Seat dealer 
group and has a total of 12 sales outlets 
in central Sweden. Moller Auto Baltic 
has 14 sales outlets in Estonia, Latvia 
and Lithuania.

FINANCIAL SERVICES
Volkswagen Møller Bilfinans AS is jointly 
owned by MøllerGruppen (49%) and 
Volkswagen Financial Services AG (51%). 
The company offers loans, leasing and 
hire-purchase products and insurance 
linked to the respective brands’ sales of 
new and used cars.
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MøllerGruppen 2015

Key figures
     
     

(Amounts in NOK millions) 2015 2014 2013 2012

Operating revenue  24 131 20 601 18 842 18 726

Profit  

Operating profit  1 033 606 636 747

EBITDA 1 1 301 934 848 971

Profit/loss before tax 1 103 671 701 795

Profit for the year 824 511 511 575

Capital

Equity at 31 Dec. 2 624 2 324 2 373 2 190

Total assets at 31 Dec. 6 484 5 507 5 346 5 038

Equity ratio 40.5 42.2 44.4 43.5

Profitability

Return on equity in % 2 33.3 21.8 22.4 26.3

Return on total capital in % 3 18.4 12.4 14.2 16.9

Number of employees

Number of employees 4 107 3 926 3 771 3 664

Total payroll and personnel costs 2 457 2 310 1 998 1 882
     
1) Including results in associated companies (AC) 
2) Return on equity: profit for the year as a percentage of average equity. 
3) Return on total capital: the result before tax plus financial costs as a percentage of average total capital.

MøllerGruppen 2015 – Important events  
  New sales record of over NOK 24 billion 
  Growth in all companies 
   Very good financial results – over NOK 1 billion 
for the first time

  Continued excellent customer satisfaction ratings
  50,000 registered cars in Norway for the first time
  Used cars – increased sales and higher margins
 Continued growth for Volkswagen Møller Bilfinans

  Strong profit growth in Sweden and the Baltic States
  Opening of Møller Bil Oslo Vest  
  Opening of used car centres in Asker & Bærum and Bergen
 Møller Bil Fredrikstad and Møller Bil Rygge were sold 
  First online car sale  
 Over 4,000 employees for the first time  
 The ”Diesel Scandal” (the EA 189 case)
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MøllerGruppen at a glance
MøllerGruppenachieveditsbestresulteverin2015.
ThecompanyhadturnoverofNOK24.2billionin
2015,i.e.growthof17%comparedwith2014.Profit
beforetaxwasNOK1.1billion,i.e.profitgrowthof64%
from2014.

Møller Bil Norge set a new sales record in 
2015 with turnover of more than NOK 13 bil-
lion and had stable high customer  satisfaction 
ratings.

Møller Baltic Import improved its profits. 
Volkswagen is the market leader in the Baltic 
States and scored very highly in customer 
satisfaction surveys. 

All Møller Auto Baltics’ dealers achieved 
better financial results in 2015, with particu-
larly high profits in Vilnius and Tallinn.

Møller Bil Sverige underwent a manage-
ment reshuffle in March and reported strong 
profit growth, stable high customer satisfac-
tion ratings and record turnover of approxi-
mately SEK 3.7 billion.

2015 was Volkswagen Møller Bilfinans’s 
best year ever with a profit before tax of 
NOK 228 million. The company has total 
assets of NOK 11.6 billion.

THE BUSINESS AREAS IN 2015
Harald A. Møller set a new sales record 
in 2015 with turnover of more than NOK 
12 billion and had stable high customer 
satisfaction ratings.

Total market share in Norway in 2015.

Turnover in 2015 totalled NOK

26.5%

24.2 billion

MøllerGruppen made progress in all its markets. More than a quarter of sales are now 
outside Norway, and the result for 2015 confirms the success of our international oper-
ations. At the same time MøllerGruppen achieved new records in Norway last year.

Our strategic ambition
Best
•  We shall have the most satisfied customers  
 – sale 
 – service
•   We shall have the most satisfied employees
• We shall have the most satisfied dealers
•  We shall be a leader on the environment 

in the industry
• We shall have profit margins of over 4.5%

Biggest
•  Volkswagen shall be the biggest passenger 

car brand in all our markets and regions
•  Volkswagen Commercial Vehicles shall be 

the biggest brand in all our markets and 
regions 

•  Audi shall be no. 1 in the premium 
 segment in our market areas

•  Škoda shall achieve a market share of 
7.5% in Norway and Sweden 

•  Volkswagen Møller Bilfinans shall achieve 
penetration of more than 40%

MøllerGruppen is leading the shift to chargeable cars
In 2015 MøllerGruppen was the clear mar-
ket leader in the shift to chargeable cars. 
Volkswagen achieved a market share of 
more than 40% in the market for electric 
cars. Within chargeable hybrids, Volkswa-
gen and Audi achieved a combined market 
share of over 48%, meaning MøllerGrup-
pen’s brands dominate this segment. This 
sales performance is a significant factor 
in the Group’s market position.

Volkswagen is the main driver in reduc-
ing CO2 emissions in the Norwegian 
fleet. CO2 emissions from new Volkswa-
gen cars were reduced by 30% in 2015, 
while the reduction in the total fleet was 
9%. Average CO2 emissions from new 
Volkswagen cars are down to 67 g/km, 
while the average for new passenger cars 
of other brands is 107 g/km in 2015.
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CEO’s statement

MøllerGruppen  
– a lively 80 year old!
2015willgodowninhistoryasourbestyearever.
2015 was also the year when Møller Gruppen’s 
organisation faced its greatest ever challenge in 
connectionwiththeso-calleddieselscandal.

The entire organisation has shown strength – all the employees at the importers and 
our dealers have stood side by side, shoulder to shoulder, with a firm focus on the 
customer.

Customer satisfaction remains our prime focus, and we performed well on this front 
in 2015 too, with high scores for all our brands. The year was also excellent measured 
by market performance. 

In Norway MøllerGruppen’s brands achieved a total market share of 26.5%, matching 
our previous record from 2012. Volkswagen was Norway’s best-selling brand for the 
tenth consecutive year, with a share of 17.5% of the passenger car market and 29.2% 
of the market for commercial vehicles. Volkswagen has not enjoyed such popularity in 
Norway since the Beetle’s golden age in the 1960s. Škoda and Audi both maintained 
their market positions of roughly 5% each.

2015 was the year MøllerGruppen really stood out as the clear leader in the shift 
to chargeable cars, and Volkswagen attained a market share of more than 40% in 
electric cars, making the brand the largest in this segment. Within plug-in hybrid 
electric vehicle (PHEV), Volkswagen and Audi achieved a combined market share of 
over 48%, meaning MøllerGruppen’s brands dominate this segment too. Strong sales 
of electric vehicles and PHEV were a significant factor in the Group’s strengthened 
market position in 2015.

Volkswagen is the main driver in reducing CO2 emissions in the Norwegian fleet. 
CO2 emissions from new Volkswagen cars were reduced by 30% in 2015, while the 
reduction in the total fleet was 9%. Average CO2 emissions from new Volkswagen cars 
are down to 67 g/km, while the average for new passenger cars of other brands was 
107 g/km in 2015.

Møller Bil Norge set a new turnover record and a new sales record with sales of more 
than 28,000 new cars and more than 17,000 used cars. We also saw excellent pro-
gress in our four overseas markets. Møller Bil Sverige achieved a new sales record 
with 10,378 cars sold, and the Baltic region as a whole also set a new record with 
8,998 cars sold. 

“Customer  satisfaction  
remains our prime 
focus   , and we per-
formed well on this 
front in 2015 too.”
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Volkswagen Møller Bilfinans too set a new record with 21,262 signed financing con-
tracts and 26,929 insurance contracts.

All in all, there is little doubt that the organisation has delivered the best year ever in 
2015. Market conditions have been favourable in all the countries, but it is the work 
people do at all levels that has been decisive for our success in fulfilling our potential.

We live in a world with increasingly rapid changes in terms of the risks we face. In 
light of this, we recognise that we need to strengthen our work in the area of com-
pliance – i.e. ensuring all our activities are in accordance with laws, regulations and 
ethical guidelines. We have our core values, which are a strong guiding force. In 
addition, we are currently in the process of launching a Code of Business Conduct, 
which provides a more detailed description of how managers and employees shall 
behave in their daily work. 

Our ambition is to be best and largest. We will achieve this through hard work with 
a high degree of integrity and without compromising on ethical norms and good 
business practice. 

In 2015 we laid the foundation for a number of new opportunities in the digitization 
of our business. This work will continue in 2016, and new services that our customers 
want us to provide will be developed and tested in steps. Common to these initiatives 
is that they build on the existing dealership structure.

Car sales in Norway in 2015 were the third highest ever. In light of the uncertain 
situation in the Norwegian economy, MøllerGruppen anticipates a slight reduction 
in the total market in Norway in 2016. The market in Sweden is expected to weaken 
moderately through 2016, while the market in the Baltic States is expected to show a 
moderate increase. However, the Group expects to maintain its strong position, not 
at least because of the trend towards more eco-friendly cars.

In April MøllerGruppen will celebrate its 80th anniversary as a company. This occa-
sion will not be marked to the same degree as we marked our 75th anniversary, but 
it is still an occasion to reflect on and take pride in the fact that MøllerGruppen is a 
particularly healthy and lively 80 year old! 

PålSyversen

CEO’s statement

“We live in a world 
with increasingly rapid 
changes in terms of the 
risks we face. In light of 
this, we recognise that 
we need to strengthen 
our work in the area of 
compliance – i.e. ensur-
ing all our activities 
are in accordance with 
the laws, regulations 
and ethical guidelines.”
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Financial statements
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Board of Directors’ Report 2015

The nature, scope and location  
of the Group
MøllerGruppen’s core business is 
the import, sale, servicing, financing 
and repair of the brands Volkswagen, 
Volkswagen Commercial Vehicles, Audi 
and Škoda. The business is located in 
Norway, Sweden, Estonia, Latvia and 
Lithuania.

MøllerGruppen’s strategy is to grow with 
the Volkswagen Group’s brands, and its 
goal is to create value for its customers, 
employees, shareholders and partners. 
Ever since Harald Aars Møller started 
his own car company in 1936, the core 
values – Honest and Trustworthy, Clear, 
Proactive, and Open-minded and Caring 
– have played a central role. 

MøllerGruppen is owned by Aars AS. 
Aars AS is a holding company focusing 
on asset management and allocation of 
capital to its subsidiaries. Aars AS also 
owns Møller Eiendom, which owns a 
large percentage of MøllerGruppen’s 
car facilities. MøllerGruppen rents the 
premises on long-term contracts. 

MøllerGruppen is managed through a 
corporate management consisting of 
the business areas Car Imports Nor-
way, Car Dealers Norway, Car Dealers 
Sweden, Cars Baltics and Car Finance. 
Each business area is cultivated with 
an emphasis on independent responsi-
bility and authority within the agreed 
framework of strategies and targets, to 
achieve long-term value development. 
Where appropriate, common functions 
are used to safeguard economies of scale 
across the business areas. 

Car Imports Norway 
Harald A. Møller AS is Norway’s largest 
car importer with a combined market 
share of over 25% in recent years. The 
four brands Volkswagen cars, Volks-
wagen Commercial Vehicles, Audi and 

Škoda all have very strong positions in 
the Norwegian market.

Harald A. Møller AS is the chain leader 
for all the car brands and is also in 
charge of IT operation and the logistics 
of vehicles, parts and accessories for all 
dealers in Norway.

Car Dealers Norway
MøllerGruppen owns a significant part 
of the Norwegian dealer network through 
Møller Bil AS. The dealers are organised 
as a chain under the name Møller Bil, 
which is Norway’s largest chain of car deal-
ers. Møller Bil has 41 dealers in Norway. 
Møller Bil covers around 60% of the Nor-
wegian market for Volkswagen and Audi, 
with a primary focus on the biggest cities. 
Škoda has a market share of around 45%. 

The dealers are engaged in sales of new 
and used cars and operation of work-
shops and body and paint workshops. 
The dealers operate as independent 
units, but work is coordinated and expe-
riences are shared where appropriate – 
also across national borders. 

Car Dealers Sweden
The Group’s dealers in Sweden are also 
organised as a chain under the name 
Møller Bil. The chain consists of 12 deal-
ers in Mälardalen, with a shared admin-
istration in Uppsala. Møller Bil Sverige 
accounts for about 10% of the Swedish 
importer’s sales. 

Cars Baltics
This business area comprises both 
imports and owned dealerships in the 
three Baltic countries. Car imports and 
the dealerships in the Baltic States have 
been gathered under a single business 
area to ensure better coordination and 
close collaboration as the market here 
is less mature than in Scandinavia. The 
importer imports Volkswagen cars and 
Volkswagen Commercial Vehicles to all 

three countries and Audi to Latvia and 
Lithuania. The importer is based in Riga 
and is the largest car importer in the 
 Baltic  States.

The dealers are organised in the same 
way as in Norway and Sweden under the 
name Møller Auto. The chain has a shared 
management for the three countries, 
located in Riga. Møller Auto consists of 
14 dealers who are largely located in the 
three capitals: Riga, Tallinn and Vilnius.

Car Finance
Car Finance operates in Norway and is 
run by the company Volkswagen Møller 
Bilfinans AS. This is a jointly controlled 
company with Volkswagen Financial 
Services AG. The company offers loans, 
leasing and hire-purchase products 
and insurance linked to the respective 
brands’ sales of new and used cars. 

The economic situation and 
 general parameters
There has been relatively low GDP 
growth in all the Group’s market areas 
in 2015. Unemployment has declined in 
Sweden and the Baltic States, while it 
has remained stable at a relatively low 
level in Norway. This, combined with low 
interest rates, has contributed to very 
strong car sales in Norway and Sweden, 
and a moderate increase in sales in the 
Baltic region. 

There were no major changes in the tax 
systems or other parameters in our mar-
kets in 2015. However, the Norwegian 
national budget for 2016 has adopted 
relatively large changes. The weight and 
power component was reduced substan-
tially, while the CO2 and NOx rates have 
been increased. This means that duties 
on vehicles with low emissions and pow-
erful engines will be lower from 1 Jan-
uary 2016. Norway has Europe’s most 
favourable tax system for electric cars. 
It has now been decided that this will 

Board of Directors’ Report 2015
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be continued until at least 2017. There 
are also a number of tax discounts for 
chargeable hybrids. A very large number 
of electric cars have been sold thanks to 
the tax system in Norway, and sales of 
chargeable hybrids are also rising. Sales 
of chargeable cars increased from 19,773 
in 2014 to 33,761 in 2015, accounting 
for 22.4% of the total market in 2015. 
Volkswagen passenger cars and Audi 
have a strong position in this segment 
with a total market share of 42.1%. 

The Volkswagen Group’s main strategy 
for new technology is to focus on charge-
able hybrids, which currently have a 
wider area of use than pure electric 
cars. We know that the Group intends 
to launch several new products in this 
segment in the next few years. In our 
opinion, sales of chargeable hybrids will 
be decisive with regard to whether or not 
Norway achieves its targets for green-
house gas emissions. The Norwegian 
importer are actively lobbying politicians 
to adapt the tax system so that charge-
able hybrids can compete on price with 
other technologies. We are optimistic 
that our brands will continue to capture 
a significant share of this segment.

The diesel scandal
On 18 September the news broke that 
Volkswagen had installed software in 
their diesel vehicles with EA 189 engines 
that manipulated the emissions data in 
connection with emissions testing. This 
is highly regrettable and came as a huge 
shock to MøllerGruppen. The Volkswa-
gen Group has received a great deal of 
negative publicity, and uncertainty about 
the measurement of emissions figures 
resulted in significant additional work 
for the organisation. The situation led 
to a huge need for ongoing information, 
both internally and out to affected cus-
tomers, the authorities and the media. 
The scope of the case was also uncertain 
for quite some time. 

Volkswagen has admitted that this pro-
gramming error affects 11 million cars 
globally, of which approximately 165,000 
are in Norway, 14,000 in the Baltic States 

and 25,000 were sold by our dealers in 
Sweden. These cars will be called in for 
an upgrade in the course of 2016. This 
will be guarantee work for our dealers. 
The repair solutions are relatively simple 
and have been approved by the authori-
ties, and the costs will reimbursed in full 
by the manufacturer. 

The car market
In 2015, Norway had the best car market 
since the 1980s, while Sweden had the 
best market ever. 150,686 new cars were 
registered in Norway in 2015, an increase 
of 4.5% compared with 2014. The total 
number of commercial vehicles under 
3.5 tonnes ended up at 33,254 vehicles, 
up 12.3% from 2014. Sales of new cars 
in Sweden totalled 345,053 vehicles, an 
impressive increase of 13.5%. The market 
for commercial vehicles also grew by 7% 
to 44,800 vehicles. There was healthy 
growth in the car market in the three Bal-
tic countries in 2015, with sales of 51,870 
cars, which is an 8% increase from 2014.

Annual financial statements
The consolidated profit before tax 
amounted to NOK 1,103 million in 2015, 
compared with NOK 671 million in 2014. 
This is the first time MøllerGruppen 
has achieved a profit before tax of more 
than NOK 1 billion, and it is by far the 
best result in the Group’s history. All 
the business areas achieved significant 
profit growth compared with 2014. The 
profit includes a gain of NOK 55 million 
from sales of businesses and non-recur-
ring costs related to the diesel scandal of 
NOK 28 million. 

Consolidated operating revenue totalled 
NOK 24.1 billion in 2015, compared with 
NOK 20.6 billion in 2014. Norway had 
the greatest monetary growth, while 
Sweden and the Baltics had the greatest 
growth measured as a percentage. In 
Norway, the growth was mainly in sales 
of chargeable cars. This helped Volkswa-
gen passenger car achieve a market share 
of 17.5%.

High sales volumes of new cars in Nor-
way and Sweden were the main reason 

for the excellent results. In addition, rev-
enue from and margins on used cars and 
the aftersales market have improved in 
all the markets compared with last year. 

The non-recurring costs of NOK 28 mil-
lion relating to the diesel scandal are 
the Norwegian importer’s costs relating 
to preparing and conducting the recall 
campaign. Costs are otherwise pri-
marily related to the development of IT 
solutions, communication with custom-
ers and training throughout the entire 
dealer chain.

Total cash flow measured in EBITDA 
amounted to NOK 1,301 million com-
pared with NOK 934 million in 2014. Net 
cash flow from operations amounted to 
NOK 560 million compared with NOK 
672 million in 2014. The cash flow from 
operations is significantly lower than 
EBITDA because it includes payable 
taxes, financial costs and changes in 
working capital. There is a large increase 
in working capital as a result of increased 
activity, which leads to a decline in oper-
ative cash flow.

The Board is very pleased with the 
results and market performances the 
Group delivered in 2015. 

Investments, liquidity and funding
The Group’s investments amounted to 
NOK 358 million in 2015, a decrease of 
NOK 95 million from the previous year. 
There have been investments during the 
year to upgrade the car facilities in Nor-
way and Sweden to meet new standards 
from the manufacturers. The Group has 
also invested in upgrading and devel-
opment of IT systems, in part related to 
digital strategies, the roll-out of corpo-
rate systems to the Swedish and Baltic 
operations, and the new parts and logis-
tics system. During the period, fixed 
assets and companies were sold for a 
total of NOK 94 million. The stock at 31 
December 2015 was valued at NOK 3,062 
million. This is an increase of 13% from 
2014, mainly due to increased sales of 
new cars.

Board of Directors’ Report 2015
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The Group has a five-year bond of NOK 
400 million that will mature in Novem-
ber 2019. This ensures the Group good, 
long-term financing, and at the same 
time the Group gains an alternative 
source of financing to bank financing. 
The bond is listed on the Nordic ABM 
exchange to ensure liquidity for inves-
tors. The Group’s financing also consists 
of short-term overdraft facilities and a 
multi-currency loan agreement with 
a limit of NOK 1,000 million, which 
expires in July 2016. At 31 December 
2015, NOK 200 million had been drawn 
on this facility. The facility was renewed 
for another five years on 8 April 2016. 
The Group had net interest-bearing lia-
bilities totalling NOK 671 million at year-
end 2015. 

At 31 December 2015, the Group’s share 
capital amounted to NOK 2,624 million, 
corresponding to 40% of the total capital. 
This gives MøllerGruppen a very strong 
financial position.

The Group’s dealers have obligations 
totalling NOK 5,183 million linked to the 
future repurchase of cars from financ-
ing companies. This is an increase of 9% 
from 2014. The Group is exposed to mar-
ket-based risk in that the market price 
for cars could fall below the guaranteed 
buy-back value. Provisions have been 
made for estimated losses in the port-
folio. Overall, earnings are good on the 
sale of used buy back cars, and the Board 
is of the opinion that this risk is under 
satisfactory control based on the current 
financial position and market conditions.

When importing cars and parts the 
transaction currency used is the euro, 
except for imports of Škoda, where 
payment is made in Norwegian kroner. 
Prices in euro are regulated according 
to currency agreements with the fac-
tory, which involve most of the risk being 
covered by the factory. MøllerGruppen 
bears the transaction risk during the 
credit period, as well as a long-term stra-
tegic risk associated with the eurozone’s 
competitiveness. Forward contracts 
and options are used to reduce short-

term risk. The Group’s investments in 
Sweden and the Baltic States are also 
subject to currency fluctuations. At the 
end of 2015, these investments were not 
hedged beyond the debt financing of 
activities being in local currency. 

The business areas
Car Imports Norway
Harald A. Møller AS, the importer of 
Volkswagen, Audi, Škoda and Volks-
wagen Commercial vehicles, had total 
operating revenue of NOK 12,109 mil-
lion. This is a new record and an increase 
of 20.9% from 2014. Profit before tax 
amounted to NOK 589 million in 2015, 
compared with NOK 503 million in 
2014. The improvement is attributable to 
increased car sales, especially chargeable 
cars. Increased sales of parts and acces-
sories have also contributed to the good 
result. Adjusted for non-recurring costs 
linked to the diesel scandal, the result is 
the best in the company’s history.  Harald 
A. Møller AS retained its position as 
 Norway’s largest car importer, and our 
car brands had a total market share of 
27.3% of the Norwegian car and com-
mercial vehicle market, compared with 
26.5% in 2014. The rise is attributable 
to higher market shares for Volkswagen 
cars due to very strong sales of chargea-
ble cars. Volkswagen was the most sold 
brand for the tenth consecutive year, and 
the Volkswagen Golf was the most popu-
lar car model for the ninth year running 
in 2015.

Škoda had a good year: It achieved a mar-
ket share of 5.0%, compared with 5.2% 
in 2014, which is quite an achievement, 
considering Škoda does not have any 
chargeable models. Audi had a slightly 
slower year as a result of fierce competi-
tion in the premium segment. Its market 
share dropped from 4.9% to 4.4%. Audi 
is also held back by its lack of electric 
models and a limited range of charge-
able options. Volkswagen Commercial 
Vehicles had a decline in its market share 
from 34.3% to 29.2% year-on-year. The 
decline is attributable to model changes 
on its two main models: Caddy and 
Transporter. However, contract intake 

for the new models has been very good. 
In 2015 sales of parts and accessories 
rose by 10.2% to revenue of NOK 1,093 
million. Operating costs comprised 9.4% 
of the operating revenue, compared with 
9.9 % in 2014. 

Car Dealers Norway
Møller Bil Norge saw a total increase 
in revenues of 13.7% in 2015 to NOK 
13,243 million, which is the highest in 
the company’s history. Profit before tax 
amounted to NOK 417 million, including 
a gain of 55 million. This result is the 
company’s best ever by a long way. This 
excellent performance reflects a high vol-
ume of new cars, primarily as a result of 
sales of chargeable cars, but used cars 
and the aftersales market have also con-
tributed positively with higher volumes 
and improved margins.

The profit margin for the dealer chain as 
a whole was 3.0%, up from 2.3% in 2014. 
The profit margin for 2015 is very good, 
with the Volkswagen dealers providing 
the best results.

Møller Bil continued to enjoy a positive 
trend in customer satisfaction in 2015 
with regard to both sales and the after-
sales market. The Board is satisfied with 
the dealers’ hard work and focus in this 
area. Customer satisfaction is crucial 
for the chain’s success, and there is still 
room for improvement. This work will 
continue in 2016. 

Car Dealers Sweden
Møller Bil Sverige had revenue totalling 
NOK 3,534 million in 2015. Measured 
in local currency this represents an 
increase of 19% compared with 2014. 
This large increase was due to higher 
sales of new cars, due to both a better 
overall market in Sweden and better 
market performances by our dealers. 
Profit before tax amounted to NOK 62 
million in 2013, compared with NOK 29 
million in 2014. Increased revenue from 
sales of new cars is the main reason for 
the profit growth, but increased reve-
nue and improved margins in both the 
aftersales market and used cars also con-
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tributed positively. The combined profit 
margin for dealers in Sweden was 2.0%, 
compared with 1.5% in 2014.

The dealers in Sweden have demon-
strated good progress in customer sat-
isfaction in both sales and the aftersales 
market. However, the Swedish dealers 
are still lagging slightly behind the levels 
we have achieved in Norway. Therefore, 
active steps are being taken to improve 
this further, including by comparing and 
coordinating measures with Møller Bil 
Norge. The Board is very satisfied with 
the positive trend in Sweden.

Cars Baltics
The Baltic business reported operat-
ing revenue of NOK 2,167 million, an 
increase in local currency of 5.8% from 
2014. The main reason for this is a bet-
ter overall market for new cars, but 
used cars and the aftersales market also 
achieved better results in relative terms. 

Volkswagen passenger cars have a 
market share of 12.0%, while Audi has 
a market share of 2.1%. Volkswagen 
Commercial Vehicles’ market share is 
15.8%. Overall, the market shares are on 
roughly the same level as in 2014, but 
Audi is down somewhat and Commercial 
Vehicles has risen from 2014. Estonia in 
particular still has great potential for 
improvement in terms of both Volks-
wagen cars and Commercial Vehicles.

The profit before tax was NOK 45 mil-
lion, compared with NOK 31 million in 
2014. Both the dealers and importers 
have demonstrated moderate growth as 
a result of increased turnover. The mar-
gins have remained stable from 2014, 
and imports in particular are charac-
terised by low margins on new cars 
as a result of strong competition in a 
price-sensitive market.

In 2014, MøllerGruppen’s companies 
in Latvia were imposed a corporate 
fine totalling EUR 7.3 million because 
of alleged price-fixing. MøllerGruppen 
strongly disagrees with the grounds for 
the fine and holds that the fine is dispro-

portionate and discriminatory in rela-
tion to the alleged violations. The case 
has been brought before the Latvian 
courts, and the trial started in January 
2016. No provisions have been made for 
this in the financial statements for 2015.

MøllerGruppen holds a very strong 
strategic position in the Baltic States, 
although some work still remains to be 
done in relation to developing the chain 
in line with what has been achieved in 
Norway and Sweden. 

Car Finance
The Group’s share of Volkswagen Møller 
Bilfinans’s profit after tax was NOK 89 
million in 2015, compared with NOK 76 
million the previous year. This result is 
the highest ever and is due to continued 
volume growth, relatively good interest 
rate margins, and low losses. The com-
pany is also run very cost-effectively. 
Confirmed losses and loss write-downs 
corresponded to 0.16% of the year’s 
average total assets, down from 0.45% 
in 2014.

The high volume of new car sales has 
resulted in significantly greater demand 
for financing services. The degree of 
financing has decreased slightly as a 
result of the high share of electric cars 
in the total Volkswagen sales, but total 
assets have nevertheless increased by 
8.7% to NOK 11,646 million at 31 Decem-
ber 2015. 

Personnel, working environment, 
the environment and corporate 
social responsibility
At year-end 2015, MøllerGruppen had 
4,107 employees, an increase of 181 from 
the previous year.  

There were 652 employees in Sweden, a 
total of 649 in the three Baltic States and 
2,806 in Norway.

The proportion of women in the Group 
is relatively stable. The proportion of 
women in Norway at year-end 2015 was 
around 16%, and we are always looking 
to increase this. We have four female 

general managers in Norway, two in 
Sweden, two in Latvia, and one in Lith-
uania. We want to increase this number, 
which is reflected by the fact that we 
always encourage women to take part in 
our internal management programmes.

At the beginning of 2016 MøllerGruppen 
joined the UN Global Compact. This is 
described in more detail in our Corpo-
rate Social Responsibility Report. This 
report covers personnel, the working 
environment, the external environment 
and corporate social responsibility. For a 
more detailed description of these areas, 
please see the CSR Report.

MøllerGruppen AS
The parent company, MøllerGruppen AS, 
is in a solid financial position. The finan-
cial statements for 2015 have been pre-
pared on the assumption that the parent 
company and the Group are going con-
cerns, and the Board confirms that the 
basis for this assumption exists. It is the 
Board’s opinion that the annual financial 
statements and accompanying notes pro-
vide comprehensive information about 
the company’s operations and financial 
position at 31 December 2015. There 
have been no events following the end of 
the year that would affect an assessment 
of the company. In 2015, MøllerGruppen 
AS had a net profit of NOK 576 million, 
which the Board proposes to distribute 
as follows:

Dividends and group 
contributions NOK 355 million
Transferred to  
other equity NOK 221 million
Total allocated NOK 576 million

In addition to this, an additional divi-
dend was distributed in June 2015 total-
ling NOK 200 million. The company had 
a book equity of NOK 1,879 million. The 
company had 22 employees at 31 Decem-
ber 2015. The working environment is 
good, and the company does not pollute 
the external environment. The compa-
ny’s head office is in Oslo.
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Prospects for 2016 and beyond
Interest rates are expected to remain low 
going forwards. This will probably con-
tribute to a healthy car market in 2016. 
Nevertheless, some decline is expected 
from the very high levels we saw in 
 Norway and Sweden in 2015, while in the 
Baltics we expect slight growth based on 
the fact that the economy seems to have 
stabilised. Internationally, car markets 
are continuing to show signs of positive 
growth. This is expected to continue in 
2016.

There has been a surge in online trade 
in a wide range of industries in the last 
few years. It is still very limited in the 
car industry. However, there is no doubt 
that technological developments and 
the customers’ expectations will result 

in the car industry also being more 
strongly affected by this trend in the 
next few years. In 2016 MøllerGruppen 
will continue its efforts to develop sys-
tems for online sales of cars, parts and 
 accessories. 

In 2015 chargeable cars were a signifi-
cant factor in the overall market. Now 
that a number of brands are expanding 
their ranges of plug-in hybrids, charge-
able cars are expected to continue to con-
stitute a growing share of the total sales, 
while the share of diesel cars is expected 
to continue to fall. Volkswagen and, to a 
slightly lesser degree, Audi are well posi-
tioned in relation to this development, 
but competition is expected to intensify 
in the chargeable segment. 

The Board is moderately optimistic 
about the car markets in our geograph-
ical areas. Uncertainty is greatest con-
cerning developments in Norway as a 
result of the low oil price and the impact 
this will have on employment in Norway.

In general, the Board is of the opinion 
that uncertainty about important frame-
work conditions outside the company’s 
control will continue. This applies to 
the general economic situation, but also 
to some extent the car manufacturer’s 
arrangements and the authorities’ influ-
ence through laws, taxes and duties, 
especially with respect to the tax regime 
for cars in Norway. 

The Board of Directors of MøllerGruppen AS
Oslo, 14 April 2016

 Harald A. Møller Øyvind Schage Førde Jon Morten Møller
 Chairman of the Board Board member Board member

 Jacob Schram Kristin Solheim Genton Jan Tellef Thorleifsson Pål Syversen
 Board member Board member Board member CEO
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

(Amounts in NOK millions) Note 2015 2014
OPERATING REVENUE
Sales revenue 23 492 20 078
Other operating revenue 639 523
Total operating revenue 1 24 131 20 601

OPERATING COSTS
Cost of goods 18 759 15 933
Payroll and other personnel costs 2 2 457 2 310
Depreciation and write-downs 6 180 252
Other operating costs 3 1 703 1 500
Total operating costs 23 098 19 995
OPERATING PROFIT 1 033 606

FINANCIAL ITEMS
Income from investments in associated companies 4 89 76
Other financial income 5 69 56
Other financial costs 5 (88) (68)
Total financial items 70 65

PROFIT BEFORE TAX 1 103 671

Taxes 19 279 159
NET PROFIT 824 511

Majority 812 497
Minorities 12 15

Income statement
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GROUP ASSETS AT 31 DEC.

(Amounts in NOK millions) Note 2015 2014
ASSETS
Deferred tax asset 19 214 204
Intangible assets 6 180 127
Goodwill 6 56 67
Total intangible assets 450 398

Tangible fixed assets 6 555 453

Investments in associated companies 4 691 486
Investments in shares 7 2 3
Other receivables 11 31 24
Total financial fixed assets 725 512

TOTAL FIXED ASSETS 1 729 1 363

Stock 9 3 062 2 716

Accounts receivable 10 1 166 907
Other receivables 11 385 450
Total receivables 1 551 1 356

Cash and cash equivalents 12 142 72

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 4 755 4 144

TOTAL ASSETS 6 484 5 507

Balance sheet
Assets
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET AT 31 DEC.

(Amounts in NOK millions) Note 2015 2014
EQUITY
Share capital 13 48 48
Other equity 2 533 2 240
Minorities' interest 44 37
TOTAL EQUITY 17 2 624 2 324

LIABILITIES
Deferred tax 19 34 28
Pension liabilities 8 57 39
Other provisions and contingent liabilities 10 10
Total provisions for liabilities 101 77

Liabilities to financial institutions 399 399
Other non-current liabilities 13 16
Total non-current liabilities 16, 18 413 415

Liabilities to financial institutions 18 400 230
Accounts payable 434 424
Tax payable 19 259 121
Public duties payable 620 621
Dividends and group contributions 356 78
Other current liabilities 14 1 277 1 218
Total current liabilities 3 347 2 692

TOTAL LIABILITIES 3 860 3 183

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 6 484 5 507

Oslo, 26 March 2015
The Board of Directors of MøllerGruppen AS

...........................................
Harald Møller

Chairman of the Board

...........................................
Øyvind Schage Førde

Board member

...........................................
Jon Morten Møller

Board member

..........................................
Jacob Schram
Board member

..........................................
Kristin Solheim Genton

Board member

...........................................
Jan Tellef Thorleifsson

Board member

.........................................
Pål Syversen

CEO

Oslo, 14 April 2016
The Board of Directors of MøllerGruppen AS

...........................................
Harald Møller

Chairman of the Board

...........................................
Øyvind Schage Førde

Board member

..........................................
Jacob Schram
Board member

..........................................
Kristin Solheim Genton

Board member

...........................................
Jan Tellef Thorleifsson

Board member

.........................................
Pål Syversen

CEO

Balance sheet
Equity and liabilities
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(Amounts in NOK millions) Note 2015 2014
CASH FLOW FROM OPERATIONS
Profit before tax 1 103 671
Depreciation and write-downs 6 180 252
Gains from sale of fixed assets / companies (59) (16)
Tax payable (138) (156)
Own financing 1 086 750
Change in stock (387) (82)
Change in accounts receivable and payables (251) (69)
Change in other items 112 74
NET CASH FLOW FROM OPERATIONS 560 672

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTMENTS
Investments in tangible and intangible assets (358) (396)
Sale of business assets (sales sum) 40 37
Payments in connection with purchase of shares in subsidiaries and businesses - (31)
Capital paid to AC 4 (123) (66)
Proceeds from sale of shares in subsidiaries 20 54 169
Proceeds associated with financial fixed assets 7 4
NET CASH FLOW FROM INVESTMENTS (380) (284)

CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING
New loans 50 399
Repayment of loans (2) (57)
Payments to minorities - (227)
Dividend paid (278) (685)
NET CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING (230) (570)

Change in cash and cash equivalents during year (50) (182)
Cash reserve at 1 Jan. (8) 175
Cash reserve at 31 Dec. (58) (8)

Specification of cash reserve at 31 Dec.
Means of payment 12 142 72
Overdraft / current market loans 18 (200) (80)
Cash reserve at 31 Dec. (58) (8)

Cash flow statement
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Accounting policies
Policies for preparing the consoli-
dated financial statements

The consolidated financial statements 
present financial information about the 
Group as a whole when group compa-
nies are treated as a single accounting 
unit. The companies that MøllerGrup-
pen has a controlling influence over are 
consolidated. The consolidated financial 
statements include the parent company 
MøllerGruppen AS and the companies 
listed in note 6 to MøllerGruppen AS’s 
accounts, and their subsidiaries. Subsid-
iaries are consolidated from the moment 
control is transferred to the Group (acqui-
sition date), and consolidation ceases 
when control of the subsidiary ceases. 

Elimination of internal transactions 
All transactions and balances between 
group companies are eliminated. Stock 
and other business assets are adjusted 
for unrealised internal profit. 

Elimination of shares in 
 subsidiaries
Shares in subsidiaries are consolidated 
using the acquisition method. The cost 
price of the shares in the individual sub-
sidiary is eliminated against the subsidi-
ary’s equity on the acquisition date. The 
subsequent increase or decrease in value 
is added to the assets and liabilities on 
the balance sheet as increased / reduced 
value associated with and accounted for 
during the asset’s remaining lifetime. 
Increased / reduced values that cannot 
be attributed to specific assets or liabili-
ties are recognised as goodwill / badwill 
on the balance sheet and depreciated / 
recognised as income over their financial 
lifetime. 

In the case of acquisitions of subsidiar-
ies with a minority, 100% of identifiable 
assets and liabilities are recognised on 
the balance sheet, while for goodwill 
only the majority share is recognised. 

Disposal of subsidiaries 
Where the Group reduces its stake to 

50% or lower, profit/(loss) is recorded 
as though the entire company had been 
sold. This means that the remaining 
stake is measured at fair value.

Conversion of foreign subsidiaries
Balance sheet items in foreign subsidiar-
ies are translated using the closing rate, 
while earnings are translated using the 
weighted average exchange rate. Trans-
lation differences relating to foreign sub-
sidiaries are charged to equity. 

Minority interests
Minority interests are extracted as sep-
arate items in the income statement 
and on the balance sheet. In the income 
statement the minorities’ share of the 
result after tax is calculated and shown.

Minority interests on the balance sheet 
represent the minorities’ share of the 
companies’ equity, taking into account 
the minorities’ share of increased / 
reduced values and internal profits. 

Associated companies and joint 
ventures
Shares in companies in which the Group 
holds between 20% and 50%, and over 
which the Group has significant influ-
ence and where the investment is long 
term in nature are consolidated in 
accordance with the equity method in 
the consolidated financial statements. 
This means the Group’s share of the net 
profit after tax and depreciation of any 
increased values are recognised under 
financial items and added to the carry-
ing amount of the share. Internal sales of 
the business assets of associated compa-
nies are corrected for unrealised internal 
profit.

Stakes in joint ventures are treated 
according to the same policy.

Individual stakes in smaller companies 
with limited value and results are treated 
as ordinary share investments, which are 
assessed according to the lower of cost 
price and fair value. 

Accruals, classification and 
measurement policies

Fundamental accounting policies
The financial statements have been pre-
pared in accordance with the Norwegian 
Accounting Act and generally accepted 
accounting policies based on the fun-
damental principles of historical cost, 
comparability, going concern, congru-
ence and prudence. Transactions are 
recognised at the value of the remuner-
ation on the transaction date. Income is 
recognised when earned and costs are 
matched with earned income. 

Classification of assets and 
 liabilities
Goods, current receivables and current 
liabilities include items due for payment 
within one year of their acquisition, and 
items related to goods circulation. The 
current portion of non-current liabil-
ities due within one year is classified 
as non-current liabilities. Other items 
are classified as non-current assets or 
non-current liabilities. 

Estimates
Estimates are used to measure income, 
costs, balance sheet items and other lia-
bilities for which there are no market 
values. This applies to the measurement 
of warranty liabilities, obsolete stock, 
pensions, goodwill, other long-term 
provisions and deferred losses on repur-
chase liabilities. Future events may lead 
to changes in the estimates. Estimates 
and underlying conditions are assessed 
continually. Changes to accounting esti-
mates are recognised in the period the 
change occurs. 

Income recognition
The Group sells products and services, 
which are recognised on delivery. For 
sales of new cars with repurchase agree-
ments, the sale is recognised on deliv-
ery. Subsequent repurchases and sales 
of repurchased cars are recognised as 
separate transactions. Total repurchase 
liabilities are detailed in note 15. 

Consolidated financial statements MøllerGruppen
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For sales of new cars, vehicle import 
duty to the State comprises a significant 
amount. This is not recognised as revenue, 
but is only included as current liabilities in 
the financial statements. The proportion 
of sales revenue related to future after-
sales contracts is recognised as unearned 
income upon the sale and is recognised 
as income as the services are provided.

Tangible and intangible fixed 
assets
Tangible fixed assets and intangible 
assets on the balance sheet are stated at 
cost less ordinary depreciation. Ordinary 
depreciation and amortisation in the 
income statement is on a straight line 
basis and is based on estimates of the 
financial and technical lifespan.

On indication that the carrying amount 
of a fixed asset is higher than its fair 
value, a test for impairment will be con-
ducted. The test is conducted for the 
lowest level of the fixed assets that have 
independent cash flow. If the carrying 
amount is higher than both the value and 
the recoverable amount (present value of 
continued use or ownership), the asset is 
written down to the higher of sales value 
and recoverable amount. Write-downs 
are reversed if the basis for the write-
down no longer exists.

Lease agreements that are not recog-
nised (operational leasing) are pre-
sented in the financial statements as an 
operational cost and the annual leasing 
amount is presented in note 6. Leased 
assets are recognised on the balance 
sheet if the lease transfers substantially 
all the risks and rewards incidental to 
ownership of the assets.

Shares and units
Shares in subsidiaries of a strategic 
nature and other long-term investments 
are classified as fixed assets and recog-
nised at the lower of cost price and fair 
value. Dividends from subsidiaries are 
recognised in the same year as the com-
pany sells them. Dividends from other 
companies are recognised as income 
when the dividends are paid.

Short-term investments are classified as 
current assets and are measured at the 
lower of cost price and fair value. 

Stock
Stocks of cars are assessed at the lower of 
cost price and assumed retail price after 
sales costs. An individual assessment is 
made of each car. Parts and equipment are 
recognised at average procurement cost 
(in accordance with the FIFO principle). 
Write-downs are made for obsolescence. 

Accounts receivable and other 
receivables 
Accounts receivable and other receiva-
bles are recognised on the balance sheet 
at their nominal rate after the deduction 
of confirmed and expected losses. 

Other financial investments 
Short-term financial investments are 
recognised at market value. 

Taxes
Taxes consist of tax payable and 
changes to deferred tax. Tax payable is 
fixed based on the year’s taxable result. 
Deferred tax on the balance sheet is cal-
culated based on temporary differences 
between tax able and accounting values 
and tax losses carried forward. Deferred 
tax assets where future use is uncer-
tain are not recorded. Deferred tax and 
deferred tax assets are presented net on 
the balance sheet when there is a basis 
for offsetting. If the tax rate has changed 
since the previous year, the new tax rate 
is used to calculate deferred tax.

Deferred tax and deferred tax assets on 
acquisitions are calculated based on the 
difference between fair value and book 
value in acquired companies for identifi-
able assets and liabilities. Deferred tax is 
not calculated on goodwill and increased 
value of properties upon acquisition. 
Deferred tax on temporary differences 
associated with investments in subsid-
iaries is included, unless the temporary 
difference is unlikely to be reversed in 
the immediate future.

Pensions  
The Norwegian companies have had two 
group pension schemes, defined-benefit 
and defined-contribution, which are 
covered by insurance companies. On 
31 December 2014, the defined-benefit 
pension scheme was discontinued, and 
all the employees have been transferred 
to the defined-contribution scheme. 

The Group also has a few unfunded 
pension liabilities, which are charged 
directly to operations and calculated 
by an actuary. Most of the Norwegian 
companies are covered by the contrac-
tual early retirement scheme (the “AFP” 
scheme) through the Norwegian Fed-
eration of Trade Unions (LO) and the 
Confederation of Norwegian Enterprise 
(NHO). Although this is a defined-ben-
efit scheme, there is no direct allocation 
of assets and liabilities for each individ-
ual company. The scheme is therefore 
treated as a defined-contribution plan 
for accounting purposes where premi-
ums are charged as a cost as they are 
incurred.

The Swedish companies have group 
pension schemes (defined-benefit and 
defined-contribution schemes), which 
are governed by collective agreements. 
The companies in Lithuania, Latvia and 
Estonia do not have pension plans.

When calculating the pension cost 
of defined-benefit schemes in 2014, 
a straight line earning profile based 
on expected final salary was used. 
Plan changes were amortised over the 
expected average remaining earning 
period. The same applied to remeas-
urements to the extent the accumulated 
amount exceeded 10% of the larger of the 
pension liabilities and pension assets 
(corridor). 

The accounting for pensions has now 
changed from following the Norwe-
gian Accounting Standard (NRS 6) to 
accounting in accordance with IAS 19. 
This means that on the transition date 
actuarial gains and/or losses were set to 
zero and charged to equity. In accord-
ance with the new policy, the year’s actu-
arial gains and/or losses were charged 
to equity.

Defined-contribution pensions are calcu-
lated on an ongoing basis in the financial 
statements, with the Group contributing 
a certain percentage of the employee’s 
salary to the insurance company. The 
contributions are invested in funds, and 
employees can choose between vari-
ous savings profiles. Apart from this, 
the Group has no other liabilities to its 
employees in this scheme.
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Financial instruments 
When hedging future interest costs, 
where the hedging instruments are 
intended to protect the Group from var-
iations in future cash flows, the hedg-
ing instrument is not recorded in the 
balance sheet as long as the hedging is 
considered effective. Gains or losses are 
recorded at net in line with the result for 
the hedged item. For interest rate swap 
agreements where the hedging is not 
considered effective, the hedging instru-
ment is recorded at market value in the 
balance sheet. Changes in market value 
are recorded in the income statement as 
they arise.

For currency forward contracts, the 
intention of which is to hedge assets and 
liabilities, where the hedge is considered 
to be effective, both the hedging instru-
ment and the hedged item are evaluated 
at fair value, and gains and losses are 
recognised. When hedging net invest-
ments in foreign currency and where 
the hedge is considered effective, the 
currency forward contract is evaluated 
at fair value. Changes to fair value are 
charged directly to equity.

Foreign currency
Monetary items denominated in for-
eign currencies are measured at the 
balance sheet date, and related foreign 
exchange gains/(losses) are recognised 
as financial items. This applies to cash 
and cash equivalents, receivables and 
liabilities. For non-cash items, the price 
at the transaction date is used as a basis 
for the acquisition cost and is not trans-
lated later. This applies mainly to stock 
and tangible fixed assets. The sale and 
purchase of goods and services in foreign 
currencies is calculated at the exchange 
rate on the date of the transaction. 

The Group uses Norwegian kroner 
(NOK) as its presentation currency. The 
Group is exposed to changes in currency 
in SEK and EUR. Within the Group loans 
are granted in SEK and EUR.

Warranty allocations 
The Group incurs warranty liabilities 
through sales of new cars in accordance 
with the warranties provided by the vari-
ous manufacturers and regulations in the 
individual country. The manufacturers 
normally provide warranties according to 
applicable guidelines, but importers and 
dealers provide warranties in addition to 
these in accordance with local laws and 
any goodwill payment. Warranty periods 
vary from one to 12 years. 

With the sale of used cars, the dealer 
generally handles the warranty liabili-
ties, in addition to the remaining manu-
facturer’s warranty.

Ongoing provisions and assessments are 
made for future liabilities.

Contingent liabilities 
Contingent liabilities are not recognised 
in the financial statements. Contingent 
liabilities are recognised when it is more 
than 50% likely that a liability will be 
incurred and the liability can be meas-
ured reliably. 

Repurchase agreements
The Group has a portfolio of sold new 
cars with guaranteed repurchase prices. 
The repurchase prices vary from 50-70% 
depending on the rental period, mileage 
and model of car. The agreements are 
not recognised on the balance sheet. The 
liabilities are continuously assessed, and 
provisions are made for any anticipated 
losses. 

Cash flow statement
The indirect method is used when pre-
paring the cash flow statement. Liquid 
assets include cash, cash equivalents, 
financial investments (money market 
funds) and bank overdrafts.

Long-term partnership contracts 

Volkswagen AG, Audi AG, and ŠKODA 
Automobilava AS (companies in the 
Volkswagen Group)

Harald A. Møller AS’s contracts with 
Volkswagen, Volkswagen Commercial 
Vehicles, Škoda and Audi have an aver-
age notice period of two years.

The contracts with Audi and Volks wagen 
in the Baltic States have an average 
notice period of two years. The Volks-
wagen contract applies to Estonia, Latvia 
and Lithuania, while the Audi contract 
applies to Latvia and Lithuania. 

Volkswagen Financial Services 
AG (company in the Volkswagen 
Group)
In 2009, Volkswagen Financial Services 
AG and MøllerGruppen AS set up the 
company Volkswagen Møller Bilfinans 
AS to sell car financing products in Nor-
way. Volkswagen Financial Services AG 
owns 51% and MøllerGruppen AS 49% of 
the company. The current shareholders 
have preferential rights if shares are put 
up for sale. 

Volkswagen Møller Bilfinans AS is 
treated as an associated company and 
incorporated using the equity method.
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Notes
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

All figures are in NOK millions.

Note 1 - Segment information

The business consists of the following business areas: Car Imports Norway (Harald A. Møller), Car Dealers Norway (Møller Bil Norge), Car Dealers Sweden (Møller 
Bil Sverige) Cars Baltics (Møller Auto Baltic and Møller Baltic Import), Car Finance (Volkswagen Møller Bilfinans) and other companies.

The business areas show the following key figures:
2015

Car Imports 
Norway

Car Dealers 
Norway

Car Dealers 
Sweden

Cars 
Baltics

Car 
Finance

Other 
companies

Eliminations Group  

Operating revenue 12 109 13 243 3 534 2 167 -              62 (6 984) 24 131
Operating profit/loss 597 433 68 50 -              (67) (48) 1 033
Depreciation and write-downs 64 81 18 11 -              5 1 180
Income from investments in associated companies -                   -                      -                       -                 89 -                       -                     89
EBITDA 661 515 86 61 89 (63) (47) 1 301
Other financial results (8) (16) (6) (4) -              15 -                     (19)
Profit/loss before tax 589 417 62 45 89 (52) (47) 1 103

Assets 2 133 3 464 668 871 275 2 558 (3 487) 6 484

2014
Car Imports 

Norway
Car Dealers 

Norway
Car Dealers 

Sweden
Cars 

Baltics
Car 

Finance
Other 

companies
Eliminations Group     

Operating revenues 10 017 11 645 2 839 1 915 -              57 (5 871) 20 601
Operating profit/loss 507 145 37 34 -              (41) (76) 606
Depreciation and write-downs 48 138 20 8 -              3 36 252
Income from investments in associated companies -                   -                      -                       -                 76 -                       -                     76
EBITDA 554 283 57 42 76 (38) (40) 934
Other financial results (4) (20) (7) (3) -              22 -                     (12)
Profit/loss before tax 503 125 29 31 76 (18) (76) 671

Assets 2 025 2 935 511 722 187 1 951 (2 823) 5 507

Note 2 - Payroll and other personnel costs

2015 2014
Salaries 1 922 1 802
Employer's NI contributions 331 304
Pension costs 109 137
Other personnel costs 95 68
Total payroll and other personnel costs 2 457 2 310

Average number of employees 4 017 3 849
Loans to employees 38 37

2015 2014
Salaries, bonuses, pension costs and other remuneration for the CEO 7 7
Board fees 2 1
Total remuneration of senior executives 9 9

Loans to employees are mainly interest-bearing car loans where the companies have security in a car. The interest rate on these loans is 2.0%. In the event of sale, 
liquidation or other reorganisation, general managers in the Group are entitled to salary for one year, under certain terms. 

2015 2014
Audit fees and audit-related services 4 3
Tax, fees and other consultancy services 1 1
Total auditor's fees (excl. VAT) 5 4

The CEO and board members own 1.34% and 0.44% stakes, respectively, in Møller MI AS. Møller MI AS is an investment company where senior executives have 
the opportunity to invest. The CEO is the Head of MøllerGruppen AS and is employed and paid by the parent company. Bonus schemes have been established 
where the size of the payment depends on the results achieved for the year, combined with other qualitative assessment criteria, and where the bonus is considered 
to be part of the normal remuneration for this type of position. Two executives are entitled to two years' salary in the event of major reorganisations.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

All figures are in NOK millions.

Note 1 - Segment information

The business consists of the following business areas: Car Imports Norway (Harald A. Møller), Car Dealers Norway (Møller Bil Norge), Car Dealers Sweden (Møller 
Bil Sverige) Cars Baltics (Møller Auto Baltic and Møller Baltic Import), Car Finance (Volkswagen Møller Bilfinans) and other companies.

The business areas show the following key figures:
2015

Car Imports 
Norway

Car Dealers 
Norway

Car Dealers 
Sweden

Cars 
Baltics

Car 
Finance

Other 
companies

Eliminations Group  

Operating revenue 12 109 13 243 3 534 2 167 -              62 (6 984) 24 131
Operating profit/loss 597 433 68 50 -              (67) (48) 1 033
Depreciation and write-downs 64 81 18 11 -              5 1 180
Income from investments in associated companies -                   -                      -                       -                 89 -                       -                     89
EBITDA 661 515 86 61 89 (63) (47) 1 301
Other financial results (8) (16) (6) (4) -              15 -                     (19)
Profit/loss before tax 589 417 62 45 89 (52) (47) 1 103

Assets 2 133 3 464 668 871 275 2 558 (3 487) 6 484

2014
Car Imports 

Norway
Car Dealers 

Norway
Car Dealers 

Sweden
Cars 

Baltics
Car 

Finance
Other 

companies
Eliminations Group     

Operating revenues 10 017 11 645 2 839 1 915 -              57 (5 871) 20 601
Operating profit/loss 507 145 37 34 -              (41) (76) 606
Depreciation and write-downs 48 138 20 8 -              3 36 252
Income from investments in associated companies -                   -                      -                       -                 76 -                       -                     76
EBITDA 554 283 57 42 76 (38) (40) 934
Other financial results (4) (20) (7) (3) -              22 -                     (12)
Profit/loss before tax 503 125 29 31 76 (18) (76) 671

Assets 2 025 2 935 511 722 187 1 951 (2 823) 5 507

Note 2 - Payroll and other personnel costs

2015 2014
Salaries 1 922 1 802
Employer's NI contributions 331 304
Pension costs 109 137
Other personnel costs 95 68
Total payroll and other personnel costs 2 457 2 310

Average number of employees 4 017 3 849
Loans to employees 38 37

2015 2014
Salaries, bonuses, pension costs and other remuneration for the CEO 7 7
Board fees 2 1
Total remuneration of senior executives 9 9

Loans to employees are mainly interest-bearing car loans where the companies have security in a car. The interest rate on these loans is 2.0%. In the event of sale, 
liquidation or other reorganisation, general managers in the Group are entitled to salary for one year, under certain terms. 

2015 2014
Audit fees and audit-related services 4 3
Tax, fees and other consultancy services 1 1
Total auditor's fees (excl. VAT) 5 4

The CEO and board members own 1.34% and 0.44% stakes, respectively, in Møller MI AS. Møller MI AS is an investment company where senior executives have 
the opportunity to invest. The CEO is the Head of MøllerGruppen AS and is employed and paid by the parent company. Bonus schemes have been established 
where the size of the payment depends on the results achieved for the year, combined with other qualitative assessment criteria, and where the bonus is considered 
to be part of the normal remuneration for this type of position. Two executives are entitled to two years' salary in the event of major reorganisations.
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Note 3 - Other operating costs

2015 2014
Operating costs (rent, electricity, maintenance, car costs, etc.) 815 736
Sales costs (advertising, warranties, etc.) 655 593
Administration costs (IT services, fees, travel expenses, gifts, bad debts) 233 172
Total other operating costs 1 703 1 500

Note 4 - Investments in associated companies

Voting Equity Carrying Internal AdditionsShare of profit/loss Carrying
rights/ in company amount profit disposals  after tax amount 

Company name stake 31.12.15 01.01.15 2015 31.12.15
Volkswagen Møller Bilfinans AS 49,0 % 1 727 481  (7) 123 89 686
UAB Baltic Auto, Lithuania 35,0 % 10 5 -                            -                            -                          5
Total 486  (7) 123 89 691

Investments in associated companies are incorporated in accordance with the equity method. 

Note 5 - Other financial income and financial costs

2015 2014
Interest income 4 4
Currency gains 63 51
Other financial income 2 1
Total other financial income 69 56

Interest costs 22 11
Currency losses 59 50
Other financial costs 7 7
Total other financial costs 88 68

Note 6 - Tangible fixed assets, intangible assets and goodwill

Vehicles, machinery Buildings Intangible Goodwill*/ Total
and fixtures assets badwill**

Acquisition cost at 1 Jan. 1 096 94 259 214 1 664
Disposals in connection with sale of companies (13) - - (35) (49)
Additions 259 - 99 -                          358
Disposals (79) - - 3 (76)
Currency translation difference 16 1 - 9 26
Acquisition cost at 31 Dec. 1 279 95 358 191 1 922
Accumulated depreciation at 1 Jan. 664 74 132 147 1 017
Disposals in connection with sale of companies (6) -                            -                            (35) (41)
Year's depreciation and write-downs 119 1 46 15 180
Disposals (44) -                            -                            3 (41)
Currency translation difference 11 1 -                            5 17
Depreciated at 31 Dec. 744 76 178 135 1 133
Carrying amount at 31 Dec. 535 20 180 56 790
* Goodwill in connection with acquisition of new companies, and goodwill in company financial statements. 
** Previously written down badwill has been terminated in 2015.

Straight line depreciation plan 3-7 years 20-50 years 3-10 years 5-10 years

Annual rental of off balance sheet business assets 53 327 380

Duration of rental of business assets 1-5 years 1-15 years

Depreciation time on goodwill that represents strategic investments is normally over 10 years. These are investments where MøllerGruppen has a long-term perspective and 
that are within the Group's core business. Other items are depreciated over 5 years. Intangible assets of NOK 180 million concern software and development costs for IT 
systems. 
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Specification of goodwill/badwill in connection with acquisitions:
Business unit Acquisition Depreciation Acquisition Accumulated Carrying Year's 

date period cost* depreciation* amount* depreciation
Car dealers Sweden 2014 10 years 30 4 26 3

2011 10 years 31 15 17 3
2008 10 years 42 37 6 4
2007 10 years 8 6 2 -
2007 10 years 48 43 5 5
2006 10 years 25 25 - -

Total goodwill/badwill in connection with acquisitions 184 129 56 15
* Incl. translation difference

Note 7 - Investments in other shares and units 

Note 8 - Pensions 

2015 2014
Present value of the year's accrued pension benefits - 11
Interest cost of pension liabilities 3 17
Return on pension assets - (14)
Recognised actuarial loss/(gain) - 4
Administration costs, etc. - 3
Effect of termination of the defined-benefit plan - 67
Year's pension costs for funded and unfunded pensions, plus contractual early retirement 3 86
Defined-contribution pension 92 38
Defined-benefit pension not calculated by an actuary 14 12
Total pension costs 109 137

Carrying amount pension obligations calculated by an actuary 
Carrying amount pension liabilities at 1 Jan. 2015 (39) -
Effect of change in accounting policy (12) -
Calculated pension liabilities at 1 Jan. 2015 (51) (48)
The year's actuarial gains/losses charged directly to equity (1) -
The year's pension costs (3) -
The year's pension payments 3 -
Translation difference (5) -
Unrecognised actuarial loss/(gain) - 9
Pension liabilities (57) (39)

Number of people covered by all pension plans 3 278 3 319

Financial assumptions Sweden Norway
Return on pension assets - 3,8 %
Discount rate 3,8 % 3,3 %
Annual salary growth / annual G adjustment 2,0 % 3,0 %

The actuarial assumptions relating to demographic factors are the normal assumptions used by the insurance industry, adapted to the Group's age structure and retirement.
All pension liabilities include the employers' National Insurance contribution.

Car dealers Baltics
Car dealers Sweden

Car dealers Norway
Car dealers Norway

Car dealers Sweden

The Norwegian and Swedish companies in the Group have secured collective pension agreements. The companies in the three Baltic states do not have pension plans. In 
Norway we had two pension schemes until 31 December 2014: a closed defined-benefit plan and an ongoing defined-contribution scheme. The defined-benefit plan was 
discontinued for everyone from 31 December 2014, and the accrued pension rights were transferred to paid-up policies. The defined-contribution plan is charged as a cost 
on an ongoing basis in the financial statements as the Group pays an amount of savings to the insurance company based on the individual employee's salary. On 1 January 
2015 the scheme was adapted to comply with the new Act on occupational pensions: the threshold between the lower and the higher savings rate was raised from 6 x the 
National Insurance basic amount ("G") to 7.1 x G. In addition to saving for a retirement pension, disability pension and surviving children's pension are also covered. These 
payments do not have a paid-up policy element, meaning there is no future liability related to disability and children's pensions beyond the current premium payments. 

The Group is a member of the contractual early retirement scheme (the "AFP" scheme) through the Norwegian Federation of Trade Unions (LO) and the Confederation of 
Norwegian Enterprise (NHO). The former AFP scheme was completely phased out in 2015, meaning there is no outstanding liability related to this scheme. Unlike the old 
scheme the new AFP scheme is not an early retirement scheme, but rather a scheme that provides a life-long supplement to the standard pension. Employees can choose to 
start drawing on the AFP pension scheme from the age of 62. The new pension scheme is a defined-benefit, multi-employer pension plan funded by premiums that are 
determined as a percentage of the individual's salary. There is no reliable measurement and allocation of liabilities and assets in the scheme. Therefore, in the financial 
statements the scheme is treated as a defined-contribution pension scheme where the premium payments are charged as a cost on an ongoing basis and no provisions are 
made in the financial statements. In 2015, premiums were paid into the new scheme at a rate of 2.4% of the total salary payments between 1 G and 7.1 G.

Our Swedish companies have pension plans in accordance with a collective agreement. The scheme in Sweden is a combination of defined-benefit and defined-contribution 
plans based on job category, age and income. The defined-benefit plan is partially financed by means of premium payments, while the rest is financed through the 
accumulation of pension liabilities in the balance sheet. The pension liabilities related to the part of the scheme that is not insured are calculated by an actuary. These 
liabilities will be reduced in line with the ongoing pension payments.  All future pension savings are now insured, but these amounts are not calculated by an actuary, as the 
scheme is such that assets and liabilities are not allocated directly to the individual company in the collective pension fund. In 2015 MøllerGruppen changed its accounting 
policy on accounting of defined-benefit pensions to IAS 19, cf. the note on accounting policies. This means that on the transition date actuarial gains and/or losses were set 
to zero and charged to equity with NOK 10 million after tax. In accordance with the new policy, the year's actuarial gains and/or losses were charged to equity. Comparative 
figures have not been restated.

Some subsidiaries in MøllerGruppen have a number of minor equity investments with holdings of 20-35%, such as repair and lacquer workshops and the tyre hotel. These 
are not treated as associated companies since they have limited value and small profits. At 31 December 2015 these investments had a total carrying amount of NOK 2 
million.
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Specification of goodwill/badwill in connection with acquisitions:
Business unit Acquisition Depreciation Acquisition Accumulated Carrying Year's 

date period cost* depreciation* amount* depreciation
Car Dealers Sweden 2014 10 years 30 4 26 3

2011 10 years 31 15 17 3
2008 10 years 42 37 6 4
2007 10 years 8 6 2 -
2007 10 years 48 43 5 5
2006 10 years 25 25 - -

Total goodwill/badwill in connection with acquisitions 184 129 56 15
* Incl. translation difference

Note 7 - Investments in other shares and units 

Note 8 - Pensions 

2015 2014
Present value of the year's accrued pension benefits - 11
Interest cost of pension liabilities 3 17
Return on pension assets - (14)
Recognised actuarial loss/(gain) - 4
Administration costs, etc. - 3
Effect of termination of the defined-benefit plan - 67
Year's pension costs for funded and unfunded pensions, plus contractual early retirement 3 86
Defined-contribution pension 92 38
Defined-benefit pension not calculated by an actuary 14 12
Total pension costs 109 137

Carrying amount pension obligations calculated by an actuary 
Carrying amount pension liabilities at 1 Jan. 2015 (39) -
Effect of change in accounting policy (12) -
Calculated pension liabilities at 1 Jan. 2015 (51) (48)
The year's actuarial gains/losses charged directly to equity (1) -
The year's pension costs (3) -
The year's pension payments 3 -
Translation difference (5) -
Unrecognised actuarial loss/(gain) - 9
Pension liabilities (57) (39)

Number of people covered by all pension plans 3 278 3 319

Financial assumptions Sweden Norway
Return on pension assets - 3,8 %
Discount rate 3,8 % 3,3 %
Annual salary growth / annual G adjustment 2,0 % 3,0 %

The actuarial assumptions relating to demographic factors are the normal assumptions used by the insurance industry, adapted to the Group's age structure and retirement.
All pension liabilities include the employers' National Insurance contribution.

Car Dealers Baltics
Car Dealers Sweden

Car Dealers Norway
Car Dealers Norway

Car Dealers Sweden

The Norwegian and Swedish companies in the Group have secured collective pension agreements. The companies in the three Baltic states do not have pension plans. In 
Norway we had two pension schemes until 31 December 2014: a closed defined-benefit plan and an ongoing defined-contribution scheme. The defined-benefit plan was 
discontinued for everyone from 31 December 2014, and the accrued pension rights were transferred to paid-up policies. The defined-contribution plan is charged as a cost 
on an ongoing basis in the financial statements as the Group pays an amount of savings to the insurance company based on the individual employee's salary. On 1 January 
2015 the scheme was adapted to comply with the new Act on occupational pensions: the threshold between the lower and the higher savings rate was raised from 6 x the 
National Insurance basic amount ("G") to 7.1 x G. In addition to saving for a retirement pension, disability pension and surviving children's pension are also covered. These 
payments do not have a paid-up policy element, meaning there is no future liability related to disability and children's pensions beyond the current premium payments. 

The Group is a member of the contractual early retirement scheme (the "AFP" scheme) through the Norwegian Federation of Trade Unions (LO) and the Confederation of 
Norwegian Enterprise (NHO). The former AFP scheme was completely phased out in 2015, meaning there is no outstanding liability related to this scheme. Unlike the old 
scheme the new AFP scheme is not an early retirement scheme, but rather a scheme that provides a life-long supplement to the standard pension. Employees can choose to 
start drawing on the AFP pension scheme from the age of 62. The new pension scheme is a defined-benefit, multi-employer pension plan funded by premiums that are 
determined as a percentage of the individual's salary. There is no reliable measurement and allocation of liabilities and assets in the scheme. Therefore, in the financial 
statements the scheme is treated as a defined-contribution pension scheme where the premium payments are charged as a cost on an ongoing basis and no provisions are 
made in the financial statements. In 2015, premiums were paid into the new scheme at a rate of 2.4% of the total salary payments between 1 G and 7.1 G.

Our Swedish companies have pension plans in accordance with a collective agreement. The scheme in Sweden is a combination of defined-benefit and defined-contribution 
plans based on job category, age and income. The defined-benefit plan is partially financed by means of premium payments, while the rest is financed through the 
accumulation of pension liabilities in the balance sheet. The pension liabilities related to the part of the scheme that is not insured are calculated by an actuary. These 
liabilities will be reduced in line with the ongoing pension payments.  All future pension savings are now insured, but these amounts are not calculated by an actuary, as the 
scheme is such that assets and liabilities are not allocated directly to the individual company in the collective pension fund. In 2015 MøllerGruppen changed its accounting 
policy on accounting of defined-benefit pensions to IAS 19, cf. the note on accounting policies. This means that on the transition date actuarial gains and/or losses were set 
to zero and charged to equity with NOK 10 million after tax. In accordance with the new policy, the year's actuarial gains and/or losses were charged to equity. Comparative 
figures have not been restated.

Some subsidiaries in MøllerGruppen have a number of minor equity investments with holdings of 20-35%, such as repair and lacquer workshops and the tyre hotel. These 
are not treated as associated companies since they have limited value and small profits. At 31 December 2015 these investments had a total carrying amount of NOK 2 
million.

Specification of goodwill/badwill in connection with acquisitions:
Business unit Acquisition Depreciation Acquisition Accumulated Carrying Year's 

date period cost* depreciation* amount* depreciation
Car Dealers Sweden 2014 10 years 30 4 26 3

2011 10 years 31 15 17 3
2008 10 years 42 37 6 4
2007 10 years 8 6 2 -
2007 10 years 48 43 5 5
2006 10 years 25 25 - -

Total goodwill/badwill in connection with acquisitions 184 129 56 15
* Incl. translation difference

Note 7 - Investments in other shares and units 

Note 8 - Pensions 

2015 2014
Present value of the year's accrued pension benefits - 11
Interest cost of pension liabilities 3 17
Return on pension assets - (14)
Recognised actuarial loss/(gain) - 4
Administration costs, etc. - 3
Effect of termination of the defined-benefit plan - 67
Year's pension costs for funded and unfunded pensions, plus contractual early retirement 3 86
Defined-contribution pension 92 38
Defined-benefit pension not calculated by an actuary 14 12
Total pension costs 109 137

Carrying amount pension obligations calculated by an actuary 
Carrying amount pension liabilities at 1 Jan. 2015 (39) -
Effect of change in accounting policy (12) -
Calculated pension liabilities at 1 Jan. 2015 (51) (48)
The year's actuarial gains/losses charged directly to equity (1) -
The year's pension costs (3) -
The year's pension payments 3 -
Translation difference (5) -
Unrecognised actuarial loss/(gain) - 9
Pension liabilities (57) (39)

Number of people covered by all pension plans 3 278 3 319

Financial assumptions Sweden Norway
Return on pension assets - 3,8 %
Discount rate 3,8 % 3,3 %
Annual salary growth / annual G adjustment 2,0 % 3,0 %

The actuarial assumptions relating to demographic factors are the normal assumptions used by the insurance industry, adapted to the Group's age structure and retirement.
All pension liabilities include the employers' National Insurance contribution.

Car Dealers Baltics
Car Dealers Sweden

Car Dealers Norway
Car Dealers Norway

Car Dealers Sweden

The Norwegian and Swedish companies in the Group have secured collective pension agreements. The companies in the three Baltic states do not have pension plans. In 
Norway we had two pension schemes until 31 December 2014: a closed defined-benefit plan and an ongoing defined-contribution scheme. The defined-benefit plan was 
discontinued for everyone from 31 December 2014, and the accrued pension rights were transferred to paid-up policies. The defined-contribution plan is charged as a cost 
on an ongoing basis in the financial statements as the Group pays an amount of savings to the insurance company based on the individual employee's salary. On 1 January 
2015 the scheme was adapted to comply with the new Act on occupational pensions: the threshold between the lower and the higher savings rate was raised from 6 x the 
National Insurance basic amount ("G") to 7.1 x G. In addition to saving for a retirement pension, disability pension and surviving children's pension are also covered. These 
payments do not have a paid-up policy element, meaning there is no future liability related to disability and children's pensions beyond the current premium payments. 

The Group is a member of the contractual early retirement scheme (the "AFP" scheme) through the Norwegian Federation of Trade Unions (LO) and the Confederation of 
Norwegian Enterprise (NHO). The former AFP scheme was completely phased out in 2015, meaning there is no outstanding liability related to this scheme. Unlike the old 
scheme the new AFP scheme is not an early retirement scheme, but rather a scheme that provides a life-long supplement to the standard pension. Employees can choose to 
start drawing on the AFP pension scheme from the age of 62. The new pension scheme is a defined-benefit, multi-employer pension plan funded by premiums that are 
determined as a percentage of the individual's salary. There is no reliable measurement and allocation of liabilities and assets in the scheme. Therefore, in the financial 
statements the scheme is treated as a defined-contribution pension scheme where the premium payments are charged as a cost on an ongoing basis and no provisions are 
made in the financial statements. In 2015, premiums were paid into the new scheme at a rate of 2.4% of the total salary payments between 1 G and 7.1 G.

Our Swedish companies have pension plans in accordance with a collective agreement. The scheme in Sweden is a combination of defined-benefit and defined-contribution 
plans based on job category, age and income. The defined-benefit plan is partially financed by means of premium payments, while the rest is financed through the 
accumulation of pension liabilities in the balance sheet. The pension liabilities related to the part of the scheme that is not insured are calculated by an actuary. These 
liabilities will be reduced in line with the ongoing pension payments.  All future pension savings are now insured, but these amounts are not calculated by an actuary, as the 
scheme is such that assets and liabilities are not allocated directly to the individual company in the collective pension fund. In 2015 MøllerGruppen changed its accounting 
policy on accounting of defined-benefit pensions to IAS 19, cf. the note on accounting policies. This means that on the transition date actuarial gains and/or losses were set 
to zero and charged to equity with NOK 10 million after tax. In accordance with the new policy, the year's actuarial gains and/or losses were charged to equity. Comparative 
figures have not been restated.

Some subsidiaries in MøllerGruppen have a number of minor equity investments with holdings of 20-35%, such as repair and lacquer workshops and the tyre hotel. These 
are not treated as associated companies since they have limited value and small profits. At 31 December 2015 these investments had a total carrying amount of NOK 2 
million.

Specification of goodwill/badwill in connection with acquisitions:
Business unit Acquisition Depreciation Acquisition Accumulated Carrying Year's 

date period cost* depreciation* amount* depreciation
Car Dealers Sweden 2014 10 years 30 4 26 3

2011 10 years 31 15 17 3
2008 10 years 42 37 6 4
2007 10 years 8 6 2 -
2007 10 years 48 43 5 5
2006 10 years 25 25 - -

Total goodwill/badwill in connection with acquisitions 184 129 56 15
* Incl. translation difference

Note 7 - Investments in other shares and units 

Note 8 - Pensions 

2015 2014
Present value of the year's accrued pension benefits - 11
Interest cost of pension liabilities 3 17
Return on pension assets - (14)
Recognised actuarial loss/(gain) - 4
Administration costs, etc. - 3
Effect of termination of the defined-benefit plan - 67
Year's pension costs for funded and unfunded pensions, plus contractual early retirement 3 86
Defined-contribution pension 92 38
Defined-benefit pension not calculated by an actuary 14 12
Total pension costs 109 137

Carrying amount pension obligations calculated by an actuary 
Carrying amount pension liabilities at 1 Jan. 2015 (39) -
Effect of change in accounting policy (12) -
Calculated pension liabilities at 1 Jan. 2015 (51) (48)
The year's actuarial gains/losses charged directly to equity (1) -
The year's pension costs (3) -
The year's pension payments 3 -
Translation difference (5) -
Unrecognised actuarial loss/(gain) - 9
Pension liabilities (57) (39)

Number of people covered by all pension plans 3 278 3 319

Financial assumptions Sweden Norway
Return on pension assets - 3,8 %
Discount rate 3,8 % 3,3 %
Annual salary growth / annual G adjustment 2,0 % 3,0 %

The actuarial assumptions relating to demographic factors are the normal assumptions used by the insurance industry, adapted to the Group's age structure and retirement.
All pension liabilities include the employers' National Insurance contribution.

Car Dealers Baltics
Car Dealers Sweden

Car Dealers Norway
Car Dealers Norway

Car Dealers Sweden

The Norwegian and Swedish companies in the Group have secured collective pension agreements. The companies in the three Baltic states do not have pension plans. In 
Norway we had two pension schemes until 31 December 2014: a closed defined-benefit plan and an ongoing defined-contribution scheme. The defined-benefit plan was 
discontinued for everyone from 31 December 2014, and the accrued pension rights were transferred to paid-up policies. The defined-contribution plan is charged as a cost 
on an ongoing basis in the financial statements as the Group pays an amount of savings to the insurance company based on the individual employee's salary. On 1 January 
2015 the scheme was adapted to comply with the new Act on occupational pensions: the threshold between the lower and the higher savings rate was raised from 6 x the 
National Insurance basic amount ("G") to 7.1 x G. In addition to saving for a retirement pension, disability pension and surviving children's pension are also covered. These 
payments do not have a paid-up policy element, meaning there is no future liability related to disability and children's pensions beyond the current premium payments. 

The Group is a member of the contractual early retirement scheme (the "AFP" scheme) through the Norwegian Federation of Trade Unions (LO) and the Confederation of 
Norwegian Enterprise (NHO). The former AFP scheme was completely phased out in 2015, meaning there is no outstanding liability related to this scheme. Unlike the old 
scheme the new AFP scheme is not an early retirement scheme, but rather a scheme that provides a life-long supplement to the standard pension. Employees can choose to 
start drawing on the AFP pension scheme from the age of 62. The new pension scheme is a defined-benefit, multi-employer pension plan funded by premiums that are 
determined as a percentage of the individual's salary. There is no reliable measurement and allocation of liabilities and assets in the scheme. Therefore, in the financial 
statements the scheme is treated as a defined-contribution pension scheme where the premium payments are charged as a cost on an ongoing basis and no provisions are 
made in the financial statements. In 2015, premiums were paid into the new scheme at a rate of 2.4% of the total salary payments between 1 G and 7.1 G.

Our Swedish companies have pension plans in accordance with a collective agreement. The scheme in Sweden is a combination of defined-benefit and defined-contribution 
plans based on job category, age and income. The defined-benefit plan is partially financed by means of premium payments, while the rest is financed through the 
accumulation of pension liabilities in the balance sheet. The pension liabilities related to the part of the scheme that is not insured are calculated by an actuary. These 
liabilities will be reduced in line with the ongoing pension payments.  All future pension savings are now insured, but these amounts are not calculated by an actuary, as the 
scheme is such that assets and liabilities are not allocated directly to the individual company in the collective pension fund. In 2015 MøllerGruppen changed its accounting 
policy on accounting of defined-benefit pensions to IAS 19, cf. the note on accounting policies. This means that on the transition date actuarial gains and/or losses were set 
to zero and charged to equity with NOK 10 million after tax. In accordance with the new policy, the year's actuarial gains and/or losses were charged to equity. Comparative 
figures have not been restated.

Some subsidiaries in MøllerGruppen have a number of minor equity investments with holdings of 20-35%, such as repair and lacquer workshops and the tyre hotel. These 
are not treated as associated companies since they have limited value and small profits. At 31 December 2015 these investments had a total carrying amount of NOK 2 
million.
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Note 9 - Stock

2015 2014
New cars 1 216 1 128
Used cars and demonstration cars 1 566 1 342
Parts and equipment 267 233
Other stock 13 13
Total stock 3 062 2 716

Note 10 - Accounts receivable

2015 2014
Accounts receivable 1 177 922
Provisions for bad debt (12) (18)
Accounts receivable Aars Group 1 2
Total accounts receivable 1 166 907

Note 11 - Other receivables

2015 2014
Loans to employees 16 16
Other non-current receivables 15 8
Total non-current receivables 31 24

2015 2014
Advances to suppliers 12 13
Loans to employees 22 21
Net VAT credit 3 60
Other prepaid expenses 94 87
Accrued income 128 101
Other current receivables 127 168
Total current receivables 385 450

Note 12 - Bank deposits
The Group has bank deposits totalling NOK 142 million. There are no restricted funds to cover tax owed. Tax deductions are secured by a bank guarantee.

Note 13 - Share capital and shareholder information

Shareholders in MøllerGruppen Bil AS at 31 Dec. 2013 Number Stake
A shares:
Jan H. Møller 103 0,375 %
B shares:
Jan H. Møller 1 0,004 %
Aars AS 24 778 90,102 %
Møller MI AS 2 618 9,520 %
Total 27 500 100,00 %

The share capital consists of 27,500 shares with a nominal value of NOK 1,734, in total NOK 48 million. There are two classes of share. All shares have equal voting rights. 
Aars AS votes for 85.4% through Møller MI AS. Class A shares are guaranteed an annual dividend of NOK 5 million, collected from MøllerGruppen AS and Møller Eiendom 
Holding AS.

Note 14 - Other current liabilities

2015 2014
Provision for warranties and other liabilities 489 502
Accrued costs and prepaid income 403 331
Holiday pay and accrued salary 303 279
Advances from customers 82 78
Other current liabilities -                          27
Total other current liabilities 1 277 1 218
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Note 15 - Related parties

Company Company relationship Transaction type 2015 2014
Volkswagen Møller Bilfinans AS Associated company Sale of cars 2 342 2 786
Aars AS Parent Profit from sale of shares -                          13
Aars AS Parent Sales of administration services -                          1
Total sales 2 342 2 800

Volkswagen Møller Bilfinans AS Associated company Purchase of cars 1 185 984
Møller Eiendom Associated group Rent costs 192 172
Aars AS Parent Purchase of assets and liabilities -                          20
Total purchases 1 377 1 176

Volkswagen Møller Bilfinans AS Associated company Inter company 31 Dec. 123 88
Aars AS Parent Inter company 31 Dec. 1 2

Note 16 - Pledges, guarantees and commitments 

2015 2014
Fixtures 44 33
Accounts receivable and stock 471 391
Total carrying amount of assets with encumbrances 515 424

Guarantees 2015 2014
Repurchase agreements for cars 5 183 4 739
Vehicle import duty, Customs Region Oslo and Akershus 126 186
Withholding tax 107 98
Employees 9 7

Note 17 - Share capital

2015 Majority Minorities Total
Equity at 1 Jan. 2015 2 287 37 2 324
Profit/loss for the year 812 12 824
Annual dividend (551) (5) (556)
Group contributions (4) -                          (4)
Change in accounting policy for pensions in Sweden (after tax) (10) -                          (10)
Currency translation difference this year 46 -                          46
Equity at 31 Dec. 2015 2 580 44 2 624

Accumulated translation differences at 31 December 2015 amounted to NOK 118 million.

2014 Majority Minorities Total
Equity at 1 Jan. 2014 2 187 186 2 373
Profit/loss for the year 497 15 511
Annual dividend (310) (7) (316)
Group contributions (45) -                          (45)
Changes in minority interests*, etc. (71) (156) (227)
Currency translation difference this year 28 -                          28
Equity at 31 Dec. 2014 2 287 37 2 324
* Related to the sale of Møller MI AS

MøllerGruppen AS has a committed credit facility totalling NOK 1,000 million. Subsidiaries that comprise 80% of gross turnover and equity in the Group are guarantors.  At 31 
December 2015, NOK 200 million had been drawn on this facility. MøllerGruppen also has an overdraft facility of NOK 100 million for Norway and Sweden, which is secured 
through joint and several liability (group account schemes). At 31 December 2015, NOK 61 million had been drawn on this facility. The Group's company in Latvia has an 
overdraft facility of EUR 4 million, which is also secured through joint and several liability. At 31 December 2015, EUR 3 million of this facility had been drawn. The companies 
in Latvia have an overdraft facility of EUR 8 million, on which EUR 4 million had been drawn at 31 December 2015.

The guarantees for employees concern shareholders in Møller MI AS who have loans in Nordea that amounted to NOK 9 million at 31 December 2015. The guarantee is 
secured by collateral in shares. The Group companies included in the joint registration of VAT have joint and several liability for any debt. At 31 December 2015 
MøllerGruppen AS owes NOK 31 million in VAT, via the joint registration registered in Aars AS. 

In 2014, MøllerGruppen's companies in Latvia were imposed a corporate fine totalling EUR 7 million because of alleged price-fixing. MøllerGruppen strongly disagrees with 
the grounds for the fine and holds that the fine is disproportionate and discriminatory in relation to the alleged violations. The case has been brought before the Latvian courts, 
and the trial started in January 2016. A ruling is expected during the course of 2016.
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Note 18 - Debt, financing and financial risk

2015 2014
Withdrawals from committed credit facilities 200 150
Market loans 20 -
Overdraft 180 80
Total current interest-bearing liabilities 400 230

Bond issue 400 400
Arrangement costs (1) (1)
Total bond issue 399 399
Other long-term interest-bearing liabilities 13 16
Total non-current interest-bearing liabilities 413 415

Maturity
Due in less than 2 years 400 230
Due in 2-5 years 413 416
Total 813 646

Key figures
Unused committed credit facilities 800 850

Current liabilities
MøllerGruppen has a committed credit facility of NOK 1,000 million that runs to July 2016. The credit facilities are not secured, but all significant companies in MøllerGruppen
are jointly and severally liable for the liabilities. MøllerGruppen AS is the registered borrower. At 31 December 2015, NOK 200 million had been drawn on this facility. There 
are requirements (covenants) concerning financial key figures in the contract, linked to equity and cash flow, which are fulfilled at the end of the year. These liabilities are 
classified as current liabilities since all withdrawals from the facility will be of a short-term nature. 

Non-current liabilities
MøllerGruppen has long-term financing through a bond issue of NOK 400 million. This bond will mature in November 2019. 

Financial risk
The Group has companies involved in selling, financing and servicing cars. The Group's activities involve financial risk associated with currency, rates, credit and liquidity. 
The Group manages risk with the objective of ensuring predictable cash flows and sufficient liquidity to meet natural fluctuations in working capital.

Currency risk
The Group sells products in local currency. In Norway, the Group is exposed to short-term currency risk relating to imports of products in euro. Car manufacturers bear 
significant long-term currency risk through agreements. Short-term currency risk is hedged using forward contracts or deposits in foreign currency corresponding to the 
accounts payable in foreign currency. At 31 December 2015 there are no forward contracts. In addition the Group has currency risk associated with net investments and loans 
to Swedish and Baltic companies. The risks are mitigated by having corresponding external liabilities in the same currency or currency futures. The forward contracts are 
market-assessed (mark-to-market) and the value is recorded as foreign exchange gains at year-end. The total secured amount is SEK 125 million and EUR 1 million. 
Unrealised foreign exchange losses of NOK 6 million were recognised in the income statement at year-end.

Interest rate risk
MøllerGruppen is largely financed through a long-term bond issue. This entails a risk related to developments in interest costs. This risk is hedged by a portion of the debt 
being swapped to fixed interest rates through interest rate swaps. At 31 December 2015, the Group had an interest rate swap agreement of NOK 200 million with a fixed 
interest rate of 2.195% and a remaining term of five years. The interest swap agreement hedges 50% of the interest costs related to the bond issue at year-end. The date for 
determining the liquid element in the hedging contract is adapted according to the rollover of the underlying loans. The agreement was signed with a view to running until it 
matures. In light of this, MøllerGruppen has chosen to record the agreement as a hedge agreement, which means that ongoing changes in market value are not recorded in 
the income statement.   At the balance sheet date, the market value of the contract is negative in the amount of NOK 4 million.

Credit risk
A significant part of the Group's turnover is cash-based. There will be a temporary credit risk associated with sales by importer companies to external dealers and in cases 
where cars or workshop services are sold on credit. The risks are hedged with tight credit procedures and close monitoring of outstanding accounts receivable. Historically, 
losses have been low.

Liquidity risk
The Group operates in a cyclical industry with relatively large fluctuations in working capital. There is therefore a risk associated with short-term access to liquidity. This is 
hedged by having flexible and committed framework financing where withdrawals are regulated according to need. 

Buy back agreements
The Group has risk associated with buy back agreements. Total buy back agreement liabilities were NOK 5 billion at 31 December 2015. The risk is associated with future 
market prices for used cars. The risk is hedged through certain procedures for entering contracts and returning cars. A continuous assessment of the liabilities is conducted, 
and provisions are made for any anticipated losses. 
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Note 19 - Taxes

Taxes in the income statement 
2015 2014

Profit/loss before tax 1 103 671

Tax payable Norway 257 124
Tax payable abroad 18 11
Tax on paid group contributions 1 19
Total tax payable 276 155

Change in deferred tax (14) 4
Effect of change in tax rate in Norway from 27% to 25% 17 -                          
Tax cost 279 159
Profit/loss for the year 824 511

Effective tax rate 25,3 % 23,7 %

27% of the profit before tax 298 181
Actual tax cost 279 159
Deviation tax cost 19 22
The deviation comprises:
Permanent differences (including tax-free gains and dividends) (11) (1)
Profits in associated companies (24) (21)
Amortisation goodwill / excess value buildings 3 3
Foreign companies (lower tax rate) (5) (3)
Effect of changed tax rate in Norway 17 -                          
Shortfall/excess paid tax in previous years 1 (1)
Total (19) (22)

Tax on balance sheet

The calculation of deferred tax takes into account the following temporary differences: 2015 2014
Accounts receivable and other receivables 8 4
Stock 227 189
Tangible fixed assets (33) 6
Current and non-current liabilities 607 546
Pensions 26 11
Profit and loss account 7 -                          
Deferred losses 16 29
Latent dividend tax - Estonia (120) (81)
Total deferred tax 738 705

Norway 25% 197 185
Sweden 22% (7) (5)
Lithuania and Latvia 15% 15 19
Estonia 21% (25) (22)
Net deferred tax 180 177

Deferred tax asset on balance sheet 214 204
Deferred tax liability on balance sheet (34) (28)
Carrying amount net deferred tax 180 177
Deferred tax is included on the balance sheet as net within the various tax groups.

Change in deferred tax on the balance sheet is arrived at as follows:                                       
Deferred tax at 1 Jan. 177 190
Additions/disposals acquired/sold companies (1) (1)
Currency adjustment (1) (1)
Deferred tax linked to internal profits in AC during the year* 4 (7)
Changes in deferred tax due to change in accounting policy for pensions in Sweden, charged directly to equity 3 -
Year's recognised change in deferred tax (2) (4)
Net deferred tax at 31 Dec. 180 177
* Deferred tax linked to internal profits in AC (associated companies) is recognised on the balance sheet as part of the investment.

The tax payable on the balance sheet is arrived at as follows:
Tax payable on the income statement 276 155
Prepaid tax abroad (16) (15)
Tax on paid group contributions (1) (19)
Tax payable owed 259 121

The income tax rates in Norway, Sweden, Lithuania and Latvia in 2015 were 27%, 22%, 15% and 15%, respectively. From 2016, the tax rate in Norway will be 25%. Estonia 
does not have income tax; it has dividend tax. Latent tax has been allocated for dividends.
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Note 20 - Significant transactions in the financial year 

Transactions in 2015

This transaction had the following effect on the consolidated financial statements at 31 December 2015:
 Sales 

Accounts receivable (12)
Business assets (7)
Stock (41)
Other assets (2)
Accounts payable 11
Other interest-free liabilities 19
Interest-bearing liabilities 18
Net identifiable assets (14)

Gains from sales (55)
Sales sum (69)

Paid in cash (54)
Seller's credit (15)
Net sales sum (69)

Transactions in 2014

These transactions had the following effect on the consolidated financial statements at 31 December 2014:
 Acquisitions   Sales  Total 

Cash 20 (145) (126)
Accounts receivable 7 -                          7
Business assets (including added value) 27 -                          27
Stock 15 -                          15
Other assets 8 (156) (148)
Accounts payable (8) -                          (8)
Other interest-free liabilities (23) -                          (23)
Interest-bearing liabilities (18) -                          (18)
Net identifiable assets 26 (301) (276)

Goodwill 25 -                          25
Gains from sales -                            (22) (22)
Acquisition sum / sales sum 51 (323) (272)

Paid in cash 51 (322) (272)
Acquired cash (20) 145 126
Net cash out/(in) 31 (177) (146)

On 1 January 2014 MøllerGruppen purchased 100% of the shares in Møller Synergi AS, as well as the car business's other assets and liabilities in Aars AS. On 24 April 
2014 Møller MI AS sold all its shares in MøllerGruppen Eiendom. MøllerGruppen then sold its stake in Møller MI to Aars AS and purchased 9.9% of the shares in Møller 
Bil AS, Møller Bil Sverige AS, Møller Auto Baltic AS and Harald A. Møller AS from Møller MI AS and now owns 100% of the shares in these companies. Møller Bil Holding 
AB acquired Bilkompaniet Enköping AB on 1 October 2014.

On 28 February 2015 MøllerGruppen sold 100% of the shares in Møller Bil Fredrikstad.
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Income statement INCOME STATEMENT MØLLERGRUPPEN AS

(Amounts in NOK millions) Note 2015 2014
OPERATING REVENUE
Other operating revenue 33 58
Total operating revenue 33 58

OPERATING COSTS
Payroll and other personnel costs 1 60 45
Depreciation and write-downs 4 4 2
Other operating costs 35 18
Total operating costs 99 66
OPERATING PROFIT (66) (8)

FINANCIAL ITEMS
Income from investments in subsidiaries 2 631 456
Interest income from group companies 34 30
Other financial income 3 54 37
Interest costs from group companies - (1)
Other financial costs 3 (73) (43)
Total financial items 646 479

PROFIT BEFORE TAX 581 471

Taxes 13 5 34
NET PROFIT 576 437

Proposed allocations in MøllerGruppen AS:
Group contributions after tax (4) (45)
Dividends (351) (10)
Transferred to/(from) other equity (221) (382)
Allocated (576) (437)

Additional dividends decided before AGM date (200) (300)
From other equity 200 300
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MØLLERGRUPPEN AS' ASSETS AT 31 DEC. 

(Amounts in NOK millions) Note 2015 2014
ASSETS
Deferred tax asset 13 1 1
Intangible assets 4 15 1
Total intangible assets 16 2

Tangible fixed assets 4 22 21

Investments in subsidiaries 5 552 543
Investments in associated companies 6 571 448
Investments in shares 1 1
Group receivables 8 1 195 1 264
Other receivables 21 13
Total financial fixed assets 2 339 2 269

TOTAL FIXED ASSETS 2 376 2 293

Accounts receivable 5 34
Other receivables 5 4
Group receivables 8 640 428
Total receivables 650 466

Cash and cash equivalents 9 74 -                            

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 724 466

TOTAL ASSETS 3 100 2 758

Balance sheet
Assets
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MØLLERGRUPPEN AS'  LIABILITIES AND EQUITY AT 31 DEC. 

(Amounts in NOK millions) Note 2015 2014
EQUITY
Share capital 48 48
Other paid-in equity 1 1
Other equity 1 830 1 809
TOTAL EQUITY 11 1 879 1 858

LIABILITIES
Pension liabilities 7 1 1
Total provisions for liabilities 1 1

Bond loans 399 399
Liabilities to group companies 8 33 141
Other non-current liabilities 12 16
Total non-current liabilities 443 556

Liabilities to financial institutions 325 183
Accounts payable 5 3
Tax payable 13 -                              15
Public duties payable 4 3
Dividends and group contributions 8 356 72
Other current liabilities 24 22
Liabilities to group companies 8 62 47
Total current liabilities 777 343

TOTAL LIABILITIES 1 221 900

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 3 100 2 758

....................................
Harald Møller

Chairman of the Board

....................................
Jacob Schram
Board member

...........................................
Øyvind Schage Førde

Board member

..........................................
Kristin Solheim Genton

Board member

....................................
Jon Morten Møller

Board member

....................................
Jan Tellef Thorleifsson

Board member

...................................
Pål Syversen

CEO

Oslo, 14 April 2016
The Board of Directors of MøllerGruppen AS 

Balance sheet
Equity and liabilities 
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NotesNOTES MØLLERGRUPPEN AS

All figures are in NOK millions.

Note 1 - Payroll and other personnel costs

2015 2014
Salaries 44 35
Employer's NI contributions 7 5
Pension costs 2 2
Other personnel costs 8 3
Total payroll and other personnel costs 60 45

Average number of employees 22 22
Loans to employees 1 1

Loans to employees are mainly interest-bearing car loans where the company has security in the car. The interest rate on these loans is 2.0%. For information about 
the remuneration of senior executives, including the salary of the CEO of MøllerGruppen AS, see note 2 to the consolidated financial statements.

Remuneration to the auditors in 2015 amounted to NOK 389,951 for auditing and NOK 205,347 for audit-related assistance. All amounts are stated exclusive of VAT.

Note 2 - Income from investments in subsidiaries

2015 2014
Harald A. Møller AS 444 425
Møller Bil AS 187 -                          
Møller MI AS -                          31
Total income from investments in subsidiaries 631 456

Note 3 - Other financial income and financial costs

2015 2014
Currency gains 53 36
Other financial income 1 1
Total other financial income 54 37

Currency losses 52 33
Other financial costs 21 10
Total other financial costs 73 43

Note 4 - Tangible fixed assets and intangible assets 

Tangible Intangible Total
fixed assets* assets

Acquisition cost at 1 Jan. 24 1 25
Additions 8 15 23
Disposals (8) -                          (8)
Acquisition cost at 31 Dec. 24 16 40
Accumulated depreciation at 1 Jan. 2 -                          2
Year's depreciation and write-downs 3 1 4
Disposals (3) -                          (3)
Depreciated at 31 Dec. 2 1 3
Carrying amount at 31 Dec. 22 15 37

Straight line depreciation plan 3-7 years 3-10 years
* Cars, fixtures and furnishings 

Financial statements MøllerGruppen AS



34

Note 5 - Investments in subsidiaries

Business Stake/ EquityProfit/loss for the year Carrying
office voting 31.12.2015 2015* amount

Company name rights
Harald A. Møller AS Oslo 100 % 337 466 353
Møller Bil AS Oslo 100 % 339 187 56
Moller Auto Baltic AS Oslo 100 % 45 (10) 48
Möller Bil Holding AB Oslo 100 % 163 (2) 87
Møller Synergi AS Oslo 100 % 4 (1) 9
Total investments in subsidiaries 551 174 552
* Includes dividends received / group contributions from subsidiaries totalling NOK 91 million.

The above table only shows shares owned directly by MøllerGruppen AS. In total, the Group consists of 38 companies directly and indirectly owned by 
MøllerGruppen AS.

Note 6 - Investments in associated companies

Voting  Equity Profit/loss Carrying
rights/ in company  after tax amount 

Company name stake 31.12.2015 2015 31.12.2015
Volkswagen Møller Bilfinans AS, Oslo 49,0 % 1 727 89 571
Total investments in associated companies 1 727 89 571

The share of the profit/loss is not incorporated into the company financial statements; it is only incorporated into the consolidated financial statements of  
MøllerGruppen.

Note 7 - Pensions 

Pension costs 2015 2014
The effect of termination of the defined-benefit pension plan -                          1
Year's pension costs for funded and unfunded pensions, plus contractual early retirement -                          1
Defined-contribution pension 2 1
Total pension costs 2 2

Carrying amount net pension obligations  
Calculated pension liabilities (1) (1)
Net carrying amount pension liabilities (1) (1)

Number of people covered by all pension plans 24 21

Financial assumptions
Return on pension assets 3,3 % 3,8 %
Discount rate 2,5 % 3,3 %
Annual salary growth / annual G adjustment 2,3 % 3,0 %

All pension liabilities include the employers' National Insurance contribution.

In recent years the company has had two pension schemes: a defined-contribution pension and a closed defined-benefit pension. The defined-benefit pension scheme was 
terminated on 31 December 2014, and all the employees have been transferred to the defined-contribution plan. The company also has a handful of unfunded pensions in 
addition to the collective agreements. The company's pension scheme meets the requirements of the Norwegian Act relating to Mandatory Occupational Pensions. 

Under the defined-benefit pension scheme, members were entitled to defined future benefits. These were largely dependent on the individual's length of service, salary on 
reaching retirement age and the size of the benefits from the National Insurance Scheme. The scheme was funded by the accumulation of funds in insurance companies. 
On termination of this scheme, paid-up policies were issued to the members. Capitalised obligations in accordance with actuarial calculations were recognised on 31 
December 2014. The defined-contribution pension is covered by the company through ongoing payments to an insurance company. The company has no further 
obligations beyond this.  

The former AFP early retirement scheme has been discontinued, and capitalised liabilities have been reversed. The remaining liability on the balance sheet is related to a 
gratuity pension for former employees. The new AFP scheme is treated as a defined-contribution plan, and future obligations are not recognised on the balance sheet. 
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Note 8 - Balances with companies in the Aars Group

2015 2014
Møller Bil Norge 984 1 110
Møller Bil Sverige 199 145
Moller Auto Baltic AS 12 9
Total non-current receivables 1 195 1 264

The receivables consist of operating capital and loans to group companies (group account scheme). The receivables are long-term financing of subsidiaries and have 
no specified repayment structure. The items must, in their entirety, be regarded as continuing for more than one year after the closure of the financial year.

2015 2014
Bank deposits in subsidiaries (group account scheme) 33 141
Total non-current liabilities 33 141

2015 2014
Receivables from group companies - dividends / group contributions 632 425
Accounts receivable Group 8 3
Total current receivables 640 428

2015 2014
Inter company group contributions 5 62
Dividends 351 10
Total inter company group contributions and dividends 356 72

Excess liquidity from subsidiaries 38 36
Group contributions to group companies 13 9
Accounts payable group 11 2
Total current liabilities to group companies 62 47

Note 9 - Bank deposits

MøllerGruppen AS has bank deposits totalling NOK 74 million. The company has provided guarantees for NOK 107 million for tax owed by the subsidiaries.

Note 10 - Guarantees and commitments 

Guarantees 2015 2014
Vehicle import duty, Customs Region Oslo and Akershus 126 186
Withholding tax 107 98
Employees 9 7
Subsidiaries of MøllerGruppen AS in the Baltic States 156 124

Note 11 - Share capital

Share Other paid-in Other Total
capital equity equity

Equity at 1 Jan. 2015 48 1 1 809 1 858
Group contributions paid -                          -                          (4) (4)
Additional dividends -                          -                          (200) (200)
Profit/loss for the year -                          -                          576 576
Allocated to dividend -                          -                          (351) (351)
Equity at 31 Dec. 2015 48 1 1 830 1 879

Share Other paid-in Other Total
capital equity equity

Equity at 1 Jan. 2014 48 1 1 726 1 775
Group contributions paid -                          -                          (45) (45)
Additional dividends -                          -                          (300) (300)
Profit/loss for the year -                          -                          437 437
Transferred upon merger* -                          -                          2 2
Allocated to dividend -                          -                          (10) (10)
Equity at 31 Dec. 2014 48 1 1 809 1 858
* MøllerGruppen AS merged with Møller Bil Sverige AS on 1 August 2014.

For information about share capital and shareholder information, see note 13 to the consolidated financial statements.

The guarantees for employees concern shareholders in Møller MI AS who have loans in Nordea that amounted to NOK 9 million at 31 December 2015. The guarantee is 
secured by collateral in shares. Other guarantees concern the subsidiaries. 
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Note 12 - Liabilities, financing and financial risk

Current liabilities 2015 2014
Withdrawals from committed credit facilities 200 150
Market loans 20 -
Overdraft 105 33
Total current interest-bearing liabilities 325 183

Non-current liabilities
Bond loans 400 400
Arrangement costs (1) (1)
Total bond loans 399 399
Other long-term interest-bearing liabilities 12 16
Liabilities to MøllerGruppen group 33 141
Total non-current interest-bearing liabilities 443 556

Due date
Due in less than 2 years 220 150
Due in 2-5 years 443 556
Total 663 706

Key figures
Unused committed credit facilities 800                     850

MøllerGruppen AS is the MøllerGruppen group's internal bank. For further information, see note 10 to the consolidated financial statements.

Note 13 - Taxes

Taxes in the income statement 
2015 2014

Profit/loss before tax 581 471

Tax payable Norway 4 15
Tax on paid group contributions 1 19
Total tax payable 5 34

Profit/loss for the year 576 437

Effective tax rate 0,9 % 7,2 %

27% of the profit before tax 157                     127
Actual tax cost 5                         34
Deviation tax cost 152                     93
The deviation comprises:
Permanent differences (1) (1)
Gains, losses, shares and dividends 153 94
Total 152 93

Tax on balance sheet

The calculation of deferred tax takes into account the following temporary differences: 2015 2014
Tangible fixed assets 3 2
Unrealised exchange rate losses on forward contracts (6) (6)
Total deferred tax (3) (4)

Norway 25.0% (1) (1)
Net deferred tax (1) (1)

Deferred tax asset on balance sheet 1 1
Carrying amount net deferred tax 1 1

The tax payable on the balance sheet is arrived at as follows:
Tax payable on the profit 5 34
Tax on paid group contributions (5) (19)
Tax payable owed (0) 15

In 2015, income tax was 27%. This has been changed to 25% with effect from 2016. 

Financial statements MøllerGruppen AS



37

Auditor’s Report

PricewaterhouseCoopers AS, Postboks 748 Sentrum, NO-0106 Oslo
T: 02316, org. no.: 987 009 713 MVA, www.pwc.no
Statsautoriserte revisorer, medlemmer av Den norske Revisorforening og autorisert regnskapsførerselskap

To the Annual Shareholders' Meeting of MøllerGruppen AS

Independent auditor’s report

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of MøllerGruppen AS, which comprise the
financial statements of the parent company, showing a profit of MNOK 576, and the financial
statements of the group, showing a profit of MNOK 824. The financial statements of the parent
company and the financial statements of the group comprise the balance sheet as at 31 December
2015, and the income statement and cash flow statement, for the year then ended, and a summary of
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

The Board of Directors and the Managing Director’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

The Board of Directors and the Managing Director are responsible for the preparation and fair
presentation of these financial statements in accordance with Norwegian Accounting Act and
accounting standards and practices generally accepted in Norway, and for such internal control as the
Board of Directors and the Managing Director determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with laws, regulations, and auditing standards and practices
generally accepted in Norway, including International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require
that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures
in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements are prepared in accordance with the law and regulations and
present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the parent company and the group
MøllerGruppen AS as at 31 December 2015, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the



38

Independent auditor's report - 2015 - MøllerGruppen AS, page 2

(2)

year then ended in accordance with the Norwegian Accounting Act and accounting standards and
practices generally accepted in Norway.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

Opinion on the Board of Directors' report

Based on our audit of the financial statements as described above, it is our opinion that the
information presented in the Board of Directors report concerning the financial statements, the going
concern assumption and the proposal for the allocation of the profit is consistent with the financial
statements and complies with the law and regulations.

Opinion on Registration and Documentation

Based on our audit of the financial statements as described above, and control procedures we have
considered necessary in accordance with the International Standard on Assurance Engagements ISAE
3000 “Assurance Engagements Other than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information”, it is
our opinion that management has fulfilled its duty to produce a proper and clearly set out registration
and documentation of the company’s accounting information in accordance with the law and
bookkeeping standards and practices generally accepted in Norway.

Oslo, 14 April 2016
PricewaterhouseCoopers AS

Thomas Fraurud
State Authorised Public Accountant (Norway)

Note: This translation from Norwegian has been prepared for information purposes only.

Auditor’s Report
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List of companies

 MØLLERGRUPPEN AS (parent company)   

   Harald A. Møller AS 
SE Moller Baltic Import   

    
   Møller Bil AS (holding company) 
Møller Bil Øst AS 
Møller Bil Vest AS 
Møller Bil Molde AS 
Møller Bil Jessheim AS 
Møller Bil Bergen AS 
Møller Bil Ensjø AS 
Møller Bil Follo AS 
Møller Bil Oppland AS 
Møller Bil Haugesund AS 
Møller Bil Hedmark AS 
Møller Bil Romerike AS 
Møller Bil Sør-Rogaland AS 
Møller Bil Trondheim AS 
Møller Bil Vestfold AS 
Møller Bil Ålesund AS 
Møller BilPartner AS 
Møller Bil Klargjøring AS 
AutoArena AS   

    
   Møller Auto Baltic AS (holding company)  
SIA Moller Auto Latvia 
SIA Moller Auto Krasta  
SIA Moller Auto Ventspils  
SIA Moller Auto 
UAB Moller Auto 
UAB Moller Auto Keturi Ziedai 
UAB Moller Auto Alytus 
Moller Auto Tallinn AS 
Moller Auto Pärnu AS 
Moller Auto Viru AS 
Moller Auto Viljandi AS   

    
   Møller Bil Holding AB (holding company)  
Møller Bil Sverige AB 
Møller Bil Enköping AB

  Møller Synergi AS  
 
    
ASSOCIATED COMPANIES    

   Volkswagen Møller BilFinans AS (TS)
   UAB Baltic Auto (TS) 
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